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1. Balance sheet assets 
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2. Balance sheet liabilities 
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3. Profit and loss account 
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4. Statement of net income and changes in assets 
and liabilities recognised directly in equity 
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5. Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity 
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6. Cash flow statement 

As permitted by ANC (“Autorité des Normes Comptables” or French accounting standards body) 

recommendation No 2013-05, the BNP Paribas Cardif Group has used the indirect method to prepare 

the cash flow statement. 
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7. Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

NOTE 1 ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND METHODS 

1.1 NORMATIVE ENVIRONMENT 

 IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS firstfirstfirstfirst----time applicationtime applicationtime applicationtime application    1.1.11.1.11.1.11.1.1

The financial statements presented below as at 31 December 2017 are published for the first time by 

the BNP Paribas Cardif Group in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 

as adopted by the European Union. 

In accordance with IFRS 1 relating to the first-time adoption of IFRS, the 2016 financial statements 

published under French GAAP have been restated to comply with IFRS applicable in 2017 in order to 

be compared with the 2017 financial statements. The balance sheet restated as at 1 January 2016 

therefore represents the balance sheet at the date of the first application of IFRS as defined by IFRS 1 

(date of transition to IFRS).  

In order to explain the impact of the transition to IFRS on the BNP Paribas Cardif Group's financial 

position at the end of the 2016 financial year, note 2 "Impact of transition to IFRS" includes the 

reconciliations required by IFRS 1, which show the impact of the transition to IFRS on balance sheet 

assets and liabilities, consolidated equity and the profit and loss account. 

The BNP Paribas Cardif Group has chosen the IFRS 1 option to retain the valuations already used in 

the IFRS reporting to BNP Paribas Group to which it belongs, provided that they are compatible with 

the preparation of the consolidated financial statements for its subgroup.  

 ApApApAppppplicable accounting standards/licable accounting standards/licable accounting standards/licable accounting standards/statement of compliancestatement of compliancestatement of compliancestatement of compliance    1.1.21.1.21.1.21.1.2

In accordance with Regulation EC No 1606/2002, the BNP Paribas Cardif Group consolidated 

financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the IAS/IFRS and IFRIC interpretations 

applicable as of 31 December 2017 as adopted by the European Union. This standard is available on 

the European Commission website
1
. 

The BNP Paribas Cardif Group did not choose to adopt in advance the new standards, amendments 

and interpretations adopted by the European Union wherever their application in 2017 was optional. 

The financial statements are presented on the basis of Recommendation No 2013-05 of the French 

Accounting Standards Authority (Autorité des Normes Comptables, ANC) of 7 November 2013 with 

respect to the format of the consolidated financial statements of insurance institutions established in 

accordance with international accounting standards.  

                                                   
1

The full set of standards adopted for use in the European Union can be found on the website of the European Commission at: 

http://ec.europa.eu/internal_market/accounting/ias_en.htm#adopted-commission 
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 New accounting standards issued but not yet applicableNew accounting standards issued but not yet applicableNew accounting standards issued but not yet applicableNew accounting standards issued but not yet applicable    1.1.31.1.31.1.31.1.3

IFRS 9 "Financial InstrumentsIFRS 9 "Financial InstrumentsIFRS 9 "Financial InstrumentsIFRS 9 "Financial Instruments"    

IFRS 9 "Financial Instruments" published by the IASB in July 2014 will replace IAS 39 "Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement" for the classification and measurement of financial 

instruments. 

IFRS 9 defines new principles for the classification and measurement of financial instruments, 

impairment for credit risk of financial assets and general hedge accounting (or micro-hedging). 

IFRS 9, which was adopted by the European Union on 22 November 2016, is mandatory for annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 and will be applicable by European companies in all 

business sectors, except for insurance companies, which are, under certain conditions, authorised to 

postpone its application until 1 January 2021 at the latest. 

IFRS  9 “Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation” was amended by the IASB in October 

2017 to clarify the classification of financial assets with prepayment options at the borrower’s initiative 

leading the borrower to prepay the instrument at an amount less than the unpaid principal and interest 

owed. These amendments will be mandatory for annual periods beginning on or after 1
 
January 2019. 

An early application will be possible after adoption by the European Union. 

Option for deferred application of IFRS 9 

The amendment to IFRS 4 approved by Regulation No 2017-1988 of 3 November 2017 states that the 

following conditions are to be met by the insurance company to receive the temporary exemption (the 

so-called "deferral" option):  

� the insurance company must not have previously applied any version of IFRS 9;  

� its activities must be primarily related to insurance, and this condition is deemed to be met if 

the carrying amount of insurance-related liabilities represents more than 90% of the total 

liabilities on the balance sheet. 

At 1 January 2016, the BNP Paribas Cardif Group complied with these two conditions
2
 and therefore 

chose to defer the application of IFRS 9 to 1 January 2021, along with the "Prepayment option" 

amendment. 

Study of the implementation of IFRS 9 within the BNP Paribas Cardif Group 

The implementation of IFRS 9 in companies belonging to BNP Paribas Group relies on a project 

structure that covers the various aspects of the standard. Steering committees and technical 

committees dedicated to the various issues related to the implementation of the new standard have 

been established. 

Accordingly, at BNP Paribas Cardif, the project structure adopted covers the classification and 

measurement of financial assets, the analysis of business models and the provisioning model. 

 

                                                   
2
 The balance sheet at 1 January 2016 corresponds to the BNP Paribas Cardif Group's first IFRS balance sheet. At that date, the liabilities related to insurance 

contracts, investment contracts and other liabilities related to the insurance business (including regulatory capital financing debts, deferred taxes and asset-

related derivatives) represented 99% of total liabilities on the balance sheet.  
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The classification and measurement project is co-managed by the Finance Department and the Risk 

Management Department and has dedicated governance. 

The work relating to the analysis of business models and the contractual cash flows characteristics of 

the BNP Paribas Cardif Group’s assets is in progress. The work has been mostly completed for 

domestic markets but has yet to be rolled out across the international scope.  

The work performed has also enabled the BNP Paribas Cardif Group to define its methodology for the 

provisioning model to comply with the one adopted by BNP Paribas Group, whose operational 

implementation is underway. 

The work to implement IFRS 9 was initially organised to allow the first-time application of IFRS 9 as of 

1 January 2018, along with the rest of BNP Paribas Group. Starting in the second half of 2017, after 

the application deferral was obtained, the objective was to define how to provide the information 

required in the notes during the transitional period, in particular the information relating to assets that 

meet or exceed the SPPI test ("Solely Payment of Principal and Interests") and the information related 

to the credit quality of bond assets (excluding assets at fair value through profit or loss).  

As for hedge accounting, the analyses carried out to date have led BNP Paribas Group to maintain the 

hedge accounting principles under IAS 39 until the new macro hedging standard comes into 

application, in accordance with the option allowed for that purpose by IFRS 9. Consequently, in 

accordance with the accounting methods defined by BNP Paribas Group, BNP Paribas Cardif does 

not intend to apply the new provisions of IFRS 9 regarding hedge accounting. 

The preparatory work to implement the new standard at BNP Paribas Cardif will be spread over the 

deferral period and will take into account the BNP Paribas Group's position at the date that BNP 

Paribas Cardif applies IFRS 9 for the first time (for hedge accounting in particular). 

 

IFRS 15 "Revenue from IFRS 15 "Revenue from IFRS 15 "Revenue from IFRS 15 "Revenue from contracts with customers"contracts with customers"contracts with customers"contracts with customers"    

IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers“, issued in May 2014, will supersede a number of 

standards and interpretations on revenue recognition (in particular IAS 18 “Revenue” and IAS 11 

“Construction Contracts”). However, revenues from lease contracts, insurance contracts or financial 

instruments are excluded from the scope of this standard. 

Adopted by the European Union on 22 September 2016, IFRS 15 will become mandatory for years 

beginning on, or after, 1
 
January 2018. 

IFRS 15 defines a single model for recognising revenue based on five-step principles. These five steps 

make it notably possible to identify the distinct performance obligations in the contracts with customers 

and to allocate the transaction price to them. The transaction price amounts that are allocated to the 

different performance obligations are recognised as revenue when the performance obligations are 

satisfied, namely when the control of the promised goods or services has been transferred. 

The analysis of the standard and the identification of its potential impacts was performed at BNP 

Paribas Group level and BNP Paribas Cardif participated in that work. The implementation of IFRS 15 

within BNP Paribas Group is based on a project structure managed by the Group Finance Department. 

The analysis of the standard and the documentation and identification of its potential impacts were 

finalised in 2017.  
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At the BNP Paribas Cardif Group level, the new standard only applies to revenues generated by 

service activities and service entities are few in number. For these entities, the studies carried out in 

consultation with the BNP Paribas Group show that current revenue recognition methods are either in 

compliance with the principles of IFRS 15 or lead to a result that is slightly different from a strict 

application of IFRS 15. 

 

IFRS 16 "Leases"IFRS 16 "Leases"IFRS 16 "Leases"IFRS 16 "Leases"    

IFRS  16 “Leases”, which was issued in January 2016, will supersede IAS  17 “Leases” and the 

interpretations relating to the accounting of these contracts. 

The new definition of leases relies on both the identification of an asset and the right to control the 

identified asset by the lessee. 

From the lessor’s point of view, the expected impact should be limited, as the requirements of IFRS 16 

remain mostly unchanged from the current IAS 17. 

For the lessee, IFRS 16 will require recognition in the balance sheet of all leases, in the form of a 

right-of-use on the leased asset presented under fixed assets, along with the recognition of a financial 

liability for the rent and other payments to be made over the leasing period. The right-of-use assets 

will be amortised on a straight-line basis and the financial liabilities discounted over the lease period. 

The main change caused by this new standard is related to contracts which, under IAS  17, met the 

definition of simple or operating leases, and as such, did not require recognition in the balance sheet 

of the leased assets. 

IFRS 16 will become mandatory for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, after its 

adoption by the European Union for application in Europe. 

Following its publication, the Group started to analyse the standard and define its potential impacts. 

These actions are still underway. 

 

IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS 17 "Insurance Contracts"17 "Insurance Contracts"17 "Insurance Contracts"17 "Insurance Contracts"    

IFRS 17 "Insurance Contracts", which replaces the current standard (IFRS 4), was issued by the IASB 

on 18 May 2017, for mandatory application on 1 January 2021, and must first be adopted by the 

European Union for application in Europe. 

The standard provides for a "Best Estimate" valuation of the liability, which corresponds to probable 

discounted future cash flows, in addition to a risk adjustment that covers estimate uncertainties and a 

contractual services margin representing expected future profits from the contract.  

This approach, which corresponds to the general model, is adapted for participatory contracts that can 

under conditions receive more favourable treatment using a specific model (the "Variable Fee 

Approach" or VFA), in which the contractual services margin captures the impact of changes in 

estimates on both liabilities and underlying assets.  
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Short-term contracts may also use a simplified approach (the "Premium Allocation Approach"), which 

is similar to the deferral of premiums as currently practised for non-life policies. This approach can 

also be applied to longer-term contracts if it leads to results similar to the general model. 

For the most part, BNP Paribas Cardif's participating contracts should be able to be valued according 

to the Variable Fee Approach. Borrower insurance (ADE or “assurance des emprunteurs”) and 

protection insurance contracts should be covered by the general model or the simplified approach if 

the conditions are met. 

In addition to the expected changes in the valuation of insurance liabilities and reinsurance assets, the 

new standard should also lead to significant changes in the recognition of insurance contract revenue 

and the presentation of income and expenses related to them in the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income.  

In the first half of 2017, BNP Paribas Cardif started a project to get prepared to the implementation of 

the standard, which should take place over the 2017–2020 period. 

 

1.2 CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES AND METHODS 

 Scope of consolidationScope of consolidationScope of consolidationScope of consolidation    1.2.11.2.11.2.11.2.1

Companies included in the scope of consolidationCompanies included in the scope of consolidationCompanies included in the scope of consolidationCompanies included in the scope of consolidation    

The consolidated financial statements of the BNP Paribas Cardif Group include entities that are 

controlled by the Group, jointly controlled, and under significant influence, with the exception of those 

entities whose consolidation is regarded as immaterial to the BNP Paribas Cardif Group. Companies 

that hold shares in consolidated companies are also consolidated. 

Date of entry into the scope of consolidationDate of entry into the scope of consolidationDate of entry into the scope of consolidationDate of entry into the scope of consolidation    

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the BNP Paribas Cardif Group obtains effective 

control. Companies under temporary control are included in the consolidated financial statements until 

the date of disposal. 

Sale of subsidiaries and affiliatesSale of subsidiaries and affiliatesSale of subsidiaries and affiliatesSale of subsidiaries and affiliates    

For transactions resulting in a loss of control, any equity interest retained by the Group is remeasured 

at its fair value through profit or loss. 

Profits and losses from sales of equity interests are recorded in the income statement under "Other 

non-current operating income and expenses". 
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 Consolidation methods Consolidation methods Consolidation methods Consolidation methods     1.2.21.2.21.2.21.2.2

Companies controlled by the BNP Paribas Cardif Group are fully consolidated. The Group controls a 

subsidiary when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and 

has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. 

For entities governed by voting rights, the Group generally controls the entity if it directly or indirectly 

holds the majority of voting rights and if there are no other agreements altering the power of these 

voting rights. 

Structured entities are defined as entities that are not governed by voting rights, such as when those 

voting rights relate to administrative tasks only, whereas the relevant activities are directed by means 

of contractual arrangements. They often have the following features or attributes: restricted activities, 

a narrow and well-defined objective and insufficient equity to enable them to finance their activities 

without subordinated financial support. 

For these entities, the analysis of control shall consider the original purpose of the entity, the risks to 

which the entity is designed to be exposed and to what extent the BNP Paribas Cardif Group absorbs 

the related variability. The assessment of control shall consider all facts and circumstances able to 

determine the BNP Paribas Cardif Group’s practical ability to make decisions that could significantly 

affect its returns, even if such decisions are contingent on uncertain future events or circumstances. 

In assessing whether it has control, the BNP Paribas Cardif Group considers only substantive rights 

which it holds or which are held by third parties. For a right to be substantive, the holder must have the 

practical ability to exercise that right when decisions about the relevant activities of the entity need to 

be taken. 

Where the BNP Paribas Cardif Group contractually holds the decision-making power, for instance 

where the BNP Paribas Cardif Group acts as fund manager, it shall determine whether it is acting as 

agent or principal. Indeed, when associated with a certain level of exposure to the variability of returns, 

this decision-making power may indicate that the Group is acting on its own account and that it thus 

has control over those entities. 

Whenever the BNP Paribas Cardif Group carries out an activity with one or more partners sharing 

control by virtue of a contractual agreement which requires unanimous consent on relevant activities 

(those that significantly affect the entity's return) be taken unanimously, the BNP Paribas Cardif Group 

exercises joint control over the activity. 

Control shall be reassessed if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more 

of the elements of control. 

Companies under exclusive controlCompanies under exclusive controlCompanies under exclusive controlCompanies under exclusive control    

Companies under exclusive control are fully consolidated. 

In the full consolidation method, the assets and liabilities of the consolidated company form an integral 

part of the assets and liabilities of the BNP Paribas Cardif Group, whereas the share of equity not 

directly or indirectly attributable to the parent company (called "non-controlling interests" or "minority 

interests") is handled separately. 
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The calculation of these minority interests takes into account the outstanding cumulative preferred 

shares classified as equity instruments issued by subsidiaries, when such shares are held outside the 

BNP Paribas Cardif Group. 

Minority interests are presented separately in the consolidated profit and loss account and balance 

sheet within consolidated shareholders' equity. 

Companies under joint controlCompanies under joint controlCompanies under joint controlCompanies under joint control    

Where the jointly controlled activity is not structured through a separate vehicle or where the partners 

have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities of the jointly controlled activity, the BNP 

Paribas Cardif Group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses in 

accordance with the applicable IFRS. 

Where the jointly controlled activity is structured through a separate vehicle in which the partners have 

rights to the net assets, this joint venture is consolidated using the equity method applied to 

companies over which the Group exercises significant influence. 

Companies over which the Group exercises significant influenceCompanies over which the Group exercises significant influenceCompanies over which the Group exercises significant influenceCompanies over which the Group exercises significant influence    

Companies over which the Group exercises significant influence (associates) are accounted for by the 

equity method. 

Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of a 

company without exercising control. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the BNP Paribas 

Cardif Group holds, directly or indirectly, 20% or more of the voting rights of a company. 

Interests of less than 20% are excluded from consolidation unless they represent a strategic 

investment and the BNP Paribas Cardif Group effectively exercises significant influence. This applies 

to companies developed in partnership with other groups, where the BNP Paribas Cardif Group 

participates in strategic decisions of the enterprise through representation on the Board of Directors or 

equivalent governing body, exercises influence over the enterprise’s operational management by 

supplying management systems or senior managers, or provides technical assistance to support the 

enterprise’s development. 

Changes in the net assets of associates (companies accounted for under the equity method) are 

recognised in balance sheet assets under “equity-method investments" and in the relevant component 

of shareholders’ equity in the balance sheet liabilities. Goodwill on associates is also included under 

“equity-method investments”.  

Whenever there is an indication of impairment, the carrying amount of the investment consolidated 

under the equity method (including goodwill) is subject to an impairment test by comparing its 

recoverable value of the company consolidated under the equity method (the higher of value-in-use 

and market value less costs to sell) to its carrying amount. Where appropriate, impairment is 

recognised under “Share of earnings of equity-method entities” in the consolidated income statement 

and can be reversed at a later date. 

If the Group’s share of the losses of an equity-method entity equals or exceeds the carrying amount of 

its investment in this entity, the Group discontinues including its share of further losses. The 
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investment is reported at nil value. Additional losses of the equity-method entity are provided for only 

to the extent that the BNP Paribas Cardif Group has a legal or constructive obligation to do so, or has 

made payments on behalf of this entity. 

Consolidated insurance company investment entitiesConsolidated insurance company investment entitiesConsolidated insurance company investment entitiesConsolidated insurance company investment entities    

For the purposes of their financial management activity, insurance companies are required to invest in 

entities that correspond economically to investment entities such as mutual funds and other vehicles 

for collective investments in securities and real estate companies or funds. 

Regarding fully consolidated funds, units held by third-party investors are recognised as debts at fair 

value through profit or loss, as long as they are redeemable at market value at the subscriber’s 

initiative. 

As provided for in ANC Recommendation No 2013-05, real estate investment property companies 

(SCIs) and mutual funds consolidated under the equity method are reclassified as insurance activity 

investments. 

 Harmonisation of accounting methodsHarmonisation of accounting methodsHarmonisation of accounting methodsHarmonisation of accounting methods    1.2.31.2.31.2.31.2.3

The BNP Paribas Cardif Group is part of the scope of consolidation of BNP Paribas Group. 

In accordance with IFRS 10 "Consolidated Financial Statements" and given the first-time application 

option selected, the BNP Paribas Cardif Group's consolidated financial statements are prepared in 

accordance with international accounting standards using accounting methods that are consistent with 

those applied by BNP Paribas Group for transactions and other similar events occurring under similar 

circumstances. 

 Elimination oElimination oElimination oElimination of intragroup balances and f intragroup balances and f intragroup balances and f intragroup balances and transactionstransactionstransactionstransactions    1.2.41.2.41.2.41.2.4

Intragroup balances arising from transactions between consolidated enterprises, and the transactions 

themselves (including income, expenses and dividends), are eliminated. 

Profits and losses arising from intragroup sales of assets are eliminated, except where there is an 

indication that the asset sold is impaired.  

Unrealised gains and losses included in the value of available-for-sale assets are maintained in the 

consolidated financial statements. 

 Translation of finanTranslation of finanTranslation of finanTranslation of financial statements expressed cial statements expressed cial statements expressed cial statements expressed in in in in foreign currenciesforeign currenciesforeign currenciesforeign currencies    1.2.51.2.51.2.51.2.5

The consolidated financial statements of the BNP Paribas Cardif Group are prepared in euros. 

The financial statements of enterprises whose functional currency is not the euro are translated using 

the closing rate method. Under this method, all assets and liabilities, both monetary and non-monetary, 

are translated using the spot exchange rate at the closing date. Income and expense items are 

translated at the average exchange rate over the period. 
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The same method is applied to the financial statements of subsidiaries located in countries with 

hyperinflationary economies after adjusting for the effects of inflation by applying a general price index. 

To date, the BNP Paribas Cardif Group has no subsidiaries located in countries considered 

hyperinflationary. 

Differences arising from the translation of balance sheet items and profit and loss items are recorded 

in shareholders’ equity under "Changes in assets and liabilities recognised directly in equity" for the 

portion attributable to shareholders, and in “Minority interests” for the portion attributable to third-party 

investors. 

Should the liquidation or disposal of some or all of an interest held in a foreign entity located outside 

the euro zone lead to a change in the nature of the investment (loss of control, loss of significant 

influence or loss of joint control without keeping a significant influence), the cumulative translation 

adjustment at the date of liquidation or sale is recognised in the profit and loss account. 

Should the percentage interest held change without any modification in the nature of the investment, 

the translation adjustment is reallocated between the portion attributable to shareholders and that 

attributable to minority interests pro-rata to the percentage of the share capital held, if the company is 

fully consolidated. 

For entities consolidated under the equity method, the translation adjustment is recognised in the profit 

and loss account for the portion related to the percentage interest sold. 

In March 2017, the IFRS Interpretation Committee ("IFRS IC", formerly IFRIC) provisionally decided 

that it would not be appropriate to create an exception to IFRS 1 to allow a subsidiary that moves to 

IFRS after its parent company to retain the translation differences shown in the financial statements of 

its parent company for its own financial statements.  

As a result of that decision, the Group, having adopted the option offered by IFRS 1, recorded that the 

translation reserves of the Group's entities in the opening balance sheet of 1 January 2016 were not 

reconstituted.  

As a result of this option, the gain or loss recorded on the subsequent disposal of foreign operations 

will include the translation differences subsequent to the date of transition to IFRS but will exclude the 

prior translation differences. 

 Business combinationsBusiness combinationsBusiness combinationsBusiness combinations    1.2.61.2.61.2.61.2.6

Since the BNP Paribas Cardif Group chose the IFRS 1 option to maintain the valuations already used 

in the context of IFRS reporting to BNP Paribas Group provided that they are compatible with the 

preparation of consolidated financial statements at the level of its sub-group, business combinations 

that occurred before the date of BNP Paribas Cardif's transition to IFRS were kept at their value in the 

BNP Paribas Group financial statements. 

Identification and initial valuation of assets and liabilities acquiredIdentification and initial valuation of assets and liabilities acquiredIdentification and initial valuation of assets and liabilities acquiredIdentification and initial valuation of assets and liabilities acquired    

Acquisition method 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. 



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2017 

 

 
2017 BNP Paribas Cardif Group 

21 

Under this method, the acquiree’s identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are measured at 

the fair value (or its equivalent) at the acquisition date. 

As an exception, non-current assets classified as assets held for sale are accounted for at fair value 

less costs to sell. 

The acquiree's contingent liabilities are recognised in the consolidated balance sheet only if they 

represent a current obligation on the acquisition date and their fair value can be measured reliably. 

Cost 

The cost of a business combination is the fair value, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities 

incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued to obtain control of the acquiree. 

Costs directly attributable to the acquisition 

Costs directly attributable to the business combination are treated as a separate transaction and 

recognised through profit or loss. 

Contingent consideration 

Any contingent consideration is included in the cost, as soon as control is obtained, at fair value on the 

date when control was acquired. Subsequent changes in the value of any contingent consideration 

recognised as a financial liability are recognised through profit or loss. 

Business combinations achieved in stages 

On the acquisition date, any previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured at its fair 

value through profit or loss. 

If a business combination is achieved through more than one exchange transaction (acquisition in 

stages), the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquiree are revalued at market value at the 

effective date of control. 

Subsequent valuation of acquired assets and liabilitiesSubsequent valuation of acquired assets and liabilitiesSubsequent valuation of acquired assets and liabilitiesSubsequent valuation of acquired assets and liabilities    

The Group may recognise any adjustments to the provisional accounting within 12 months of the 

acquisition date. 

1.3 GOODWILL AND GOODWILL IMPAIRMENT  

 Initial measurement of goodwillInitial measurement of goodwillInitial measurement of goodwillInitial measurement of goodwill    1.3.11.3.11.3.11.3.1

Goodwill represents the difference between the cost of the combination and the Group's interest in the 

net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired, such fair value being determined at the 

effective date of control. 

Positive goodwill is recognised in the acquirer’s balance sheet while negative goodwill is recognised 

immediately through profit or loss. 
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Goodwill is recognised in the functional currency of the acquiree and then translated at the closing 

exchange rate. 

Minority interests correspond to the portion of the revalued net assets of the acquiree that does not 

belong to the Group. 

The BNP Paribas Cardif Group did not select the option to value minority interests at fair value, so a 

fraction of goodwill thus determined is allocated to minority interests (the so-called "full goodwill" 

method). 

However, like the BNP Paribas Group, the BNP Paribas Cardif Group can also choose, for each 

business combination, to measure minority interests at their fair value, and a fraction of the goodwill 

thus determined is then allocated to them. 

 Impairment tests of goodwill of fully consolidated companiesImpairment tests of goodwill of fully consolidated companiesImpairment tests of goodwill of fully consolidated companiesImpairment tests of goodwill of fully consolidated companies    1.3.21.3.21.3.21.3.2

The BNP Paribas Cardif Group regularly conducts impairment tests on goodwill allocated to each 

homogeneous group of businesses. 

CashCashCashCash----generating unitsgenerating unitsgenerating unitsgenerating units    

The BNP Paribas Cardif Group has split all its activities into cash-generating units representing major 

business lines
3
, which correspond in practice to geographic regions. 

This split is consistent with the Group’s organisational structure and management methods, and 

reflects the independence of each unit in terms of results and management approach. 

It is reviewed on a regular basis in order to take account of events likely to affect the composition of 

cash-generating units, such as acquisitions, disposals and major reorganisations. 

Testing cashTesting cashTesting cashTesting cash----generating units for impairmentgenerating units for impairmentgenerating units for impairmentgenerating units for impairment    

Tests to ensure that the goodwill allocated to all cash-generating units is not impacted by lasting 

impairments are carried out whenever there is an indication that a unit may be impaired, and at least 

once a year, 

The carrying amount of the unit is compared with its recoverable amount. If the recoverable amount is 

less than the carrying amount, an irreversible impairment loss is recognised. This impairment is equal 

to the difference between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount of the relevant cash-

generating unit.  

Recoverable amount and value Recoverable amount and value Recoverable amount and value Recoverable amount and value in use of a cashin use of a cashin use of a cashin use of a cash----generating unitgenerating unitgenerating unitgenerating unit    

The recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is the higher of the fair value of the unit less costs 

to sell, and its value in use. 

                                                   
3
 The term defined by IAS 36 is "Cash Generating Unit". 
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Fair value is the price that would be obtained from selling the unit at the market conditions prevailing 

at the valuation date, as determined mainly by reference to actual prices of recent transactions 

involving similar entities or on the basis of stock market multiples for comparable companies. 

Value in use is based on an estimate of the future cash flows to be generated by the cash-generating 

unit, derived from the annual forecasts prepared by the unit’s management and approved by Group 

Executive Management, and from analyses of changes in the relative positioning of the unit’s activities 

on their market. These cash flows are discounted at a rate that reflects the return that investors would 

require from an investment in the business sector and region involved. 

1.4 VALUE OF INSURANCE COMPANY CONTRACT PORTFOLIOS 

ACQUIRED 

 Initial value of Initial value of Initial value of Initial value of contract contract contract contract portfoliosportfoliosportfoliosportfolios    1.4.11.4.11.4.11.4.1

In accordance with IFRS 3 "Business Combinations", insurance contracts and investment contracts 

with discretionary participating feature acquired in a business combination, i.e. insurance liabilities 

assumed and assets acquired under insurance contracts, are valued at their fair value at the 

acquisition date.  

The fair value of the insurance rights acquired is equal to the discounted value of the estimated future 

profits related to the existing contracts at the date of the acquisition. The present value of future profits 

takes into account the cost of capital and is estimated using actuarial assumptions based on 

projections made at the acquisition date, using a discount rate with a risk premium. 

The BNP Paribas Cardif Group has adopted the IFRS 4 option which permits to use an expanded 

presentation that splits the fair value of acquired insurance contracts into two components: 

� liabilities measured according to the insurer's accounting policies related to the insurance 

contracts it issues and; 

� intangible assets representing the difference between the fair value of the contractual 

insurance rights acquired and the insurance obligations assumed and the liability measured 

according to the insurer's accounting methods.  

 Subsequent value of insurance company portfoliosSubsequent value of insurance company portfoliosSubsequent value of insurance company portfoliosSubsequent value of insurance company portfolios    1.4.21.4.21.4.21.4.2

The value of acquired insurance contract and investment contract portfolios with discretionary 

participation recognised in a business combination is amortised based on the recognition of the profits 

over the life of the contract portfolio. If specific monitoring of acquired contracts cannot be 

implemented, a straight-line depreciation over the estimated remaining term of the contracts is used. 

A recoverability test is performed each year based on experience and expected changes in key 

assumptions. 
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1.5 TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Fixed assets included in the BNP Paribas Cardif Group's balance sheet include tangible assets as 

property, plant and equipment (including investment properties) and intangible operating assets used 

for administrative purposes or for the production of services.  

 Initial valuation of fixed assetsInitial valuation of fixed assetsInitial valuation of fixed assetsInitial valuation of fixed assets    1.5.11.5.11.5.11.5.1

Tangible and intangible assets are initially recognised at purchase price plus directly attributable costs, 

together with borrowing costs where a long period of construction or adaptation is required before the 

asset can be brought into service. 

Software 

Software developed internally by the BNP Paribas Cardif Group that fulfils the criteria for capitalisation 

is capitalised at direct development cost, which includes external expenses and the labor costs of 

employees directly attributable to the project. 

Expenditure that is regarded as upgrading the software or extending its useful life is included in the 

initial acquisition or development cost. 

On the contrary, software maintenance costs are not capitalised and are recognised in the income 

statement as incurred. 

Exclusive distribution agreements  

The value of an exclusive distribution agreement represents the value of expected future flows of new 

business within the network of a partner covered by that agreement. These intangible assets are 

estimated according to the terms and conditions specific to each distribution agreement. 

 Subsequent valuation of fixed assetsSubsequent valuation of fixed assetsSubsequent valuation of fixed assetsSubsequent valuation of fixed assets    1.5.21.5.21.5.21.5.2

At the closing date, fixed assets are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation 

and any impairment losses recognised. 

Depreciation and amortisation of fixed assetsDepreciation and amortisation of fixed assetsDepreciation and amortisation of fixed assetsDepreciation and amortisation of fixed assets    

The depreciable amount of tangible and intangible assets is calculated after deducting the residual 

value of the asset.  

Only assets leased by the Group as the lessor under operating leases are presumed to have a 

residual value, as the useful life of tangible and intangible assets used in operations is generally the 

same as their economic life. 

Fixed assets are depreciated or amortised using the straight-line method over the useful life of the 

asset. Depreciation and amortization expenses are recognised in the income statement in expenses 

according to their intended use. 
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Where an asset consists of a number of components which may require replacement at regular 

intervals, or which have different uses or generate economic benefits at different rates, each 

component is recognised separately and depreciated using a method appropriate to that component. 

Softwares are amortised depending on their type, over a period of no more than eight years for 

infrastructure developments, and over a three or five year period for software developed primarily for 

customer services. 

Exclusive distribution agreements are amortised over the life of the distribution agreement, taking into 

account any residual value. 

Fixed asset impairment testsFixed asset impairment testsFixed asset impairment testsFixed asset impairment tests    

Non-depreciable assets are tested for impairment at least annually, using the same method as for 

goodwill allocated to cash-generating units. 

Depreciable tangible and intangible assets are tested for impairment if there is an indication of 

potential impairment at the closing date. 

If there is an indication of impairment, the new recoverable amount of the asset is compared with the 

carrying amount. 

If the asset is found to be impaired, an impairment loss is recognised in the profit and loss account as 

corresponding expenses in the fixed asset category. 

This loss is reversed in the event of a change in the estimated recoverable amount or if there is no 

longer an indication of impairment. 

 Gains and losses on disposals of fixed assetsGains and losses on disposals of fixed assetsGains and losses on disposals of fixed assetsGains and losses on disposals of fixed assets    1.5.31.5.31.5.31.5.3

Gains or losses on disposals of operating assets are recorded in the profit and loss account under 

"Other current operating income and expenses". 

 Operating propertiesOperating propertiesOperating propertiesOperating properties    1.5.41.5.41.5.41.5.4

Properties used in operations are recognised as investment properties measured at amortised cost 

(see below). 

In accordance with the recommendation of the CNC working groups on the implementation of IFRS by 

insurance organisations (January 2007), internal rents and corresponding revenues recognised in the 

insurance companies' financial statements are eliminated without effect on the policyholders’ benefit 

participation. 



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2017 

 
 

2017 BNP Paribas Cardif Group 

 

26 

1.6 INSURANCE COMPANY INVESTMENTS 

 Real estate investmentsReal estate investmentsReal estate investmentsReal estate investments    1.6.11.6.11.6.11.6.1

The "Real estate investments" item includes all real estate assets, with the exception of shares of real 

estate companies used to support unit-linked insurance contracts, which appear under the heading 

"Investments in unit-linked contracts" and shares of real estate companies, both listed and unlisted, 

classified as "Available-for-sale financial assets". 

Investment propertyInvestment propertyInvestment propertyInvestment property    

Investment properties correspond to real estate held directly by insurance companies and 

consolidated real estate companies. They consist of land, buildings and, in certain cases, business 

assets acquired with the buildings. 

Initial valuation of investment properties 

Land and buildings appear on the balance sheet at their acquisition cost, which includes the directly 

attributable acquisition costs. 

Under the component approach, the total cost of buildings is divided among its four different 

components: shell, facade, general and technical installations, fixtures and fittings, with each 

component being accounted for separately according to its useful life or the rate at which it provides 

economic benefits. 

Real estate investments in the hotel industry can include acquired leaseholds rights that are non-

depreciable and accessory to lands and constructions. Those leaseholds rights, under lease 

management or management contracts, are elements of the investments backing the general fund for 

insurance commitments, and generate financial yield. 

Subsequent expenditure 

Subsequent expenditures are capitalised if they can be measured reliably and are likely to generate 

future economic benefits. 

Depreciation period of investment properties 

The depreciation period of the components used by the Group, defined individually for each 

component, depends on the category of the building (prestige building or other buildings) and its 

intended use (offices, retail, housing, car parks). 

The depreciation periods used by the Group are as follows: 

� shell (depreciation period between 50 and 80 years); 

� facades (25 to 30 years); 

� general and technical installations (20 to 25 years); 

� fixtures and fittings (12 to 15 years). 
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Subsequent valuation of investment properties 

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at cost less accumulated 

depreciation or amortisation and any impairment losses. 

At the closing date, the fair value of the investment properties corresponds to their realisable value, 

which is determined on the basis of a five-year appraisal carried out by an independent expert 

approved by the national supervisory authorities (in France, the Autorité de Contrôle Prudentiel et de 

Résolution). Between two appraisals, the realisable value is updated at least annually. 

Creation of a provision for permanent impairment 

If, at the closing date, the realisable value of the properties is more than 20% lower than their carrying 

amount, a special study is conducted to determine whether it is necessary to create a provision for 

permanent impairment. 

The creation of a provision for permanent impairment makes it possible to reduce the carrying amount 

of the buildings to their realisable value and recognise the impairment loss through profit or loss. 

If the realisable value of investment properties subsequently becomes higher than their carrying 

amount, the provision for permanent impairment is reversed through profit and loss. 

Gains and losses on disposals of investment properties 

Gains or losses on the sale of investment properties are recorded in the income statement under 

"Capital gains and losses on disposal of investments net of reversals of impairments and amortisation". 

Shares of listed real estate companiesShares of listed real estate companiesShares of listed real estate companiesShares of listed real estate companies    

The shares of non-consolidated listed real estate companies are classified as available-for-sale 

financial assets and follow the rules of IAS 39 applicable to that class of assets. 

Shares of unlisted real estate companiesShares of unlisted real estate companiesShares of unlisted real estate companiesShares of unlisted real estate companies    

Shares of unlisted real estate companies and their related receivables (notably current accounts and 

advances from partners) are treated as a global investment and classified as available-for-sale 

financial assets. The amount of this investment is valued in relation to the market value of the 

underlying assets. 

The impairment criteria are similar to those for financial investments. 

Shares and eShares and eShares and eShares and equity of real estate companies related to quity of real estate companies related to quity of real estate companies related to quity of real estate companies related to unitunitunitunit----linkedlinkedlinkedlinked    policiespoliciespoliciespolicies    

Shares of real-estate investment property (SCI or “société civile immobilière”) and the shares or units 

of real-estate mutual funds (OPCI or “organisme de placement collectif en immobilier”) held in unit-

linked insurance contract portfolios are valued at their fair value (or its equivalent) on the closing date, 

with changes in fair value booked into profit or loss. 

If those companies are fully consolidated, the properties they own are valued at fair value through 

profit or loss as permitted by IAS 40 "Investment property". 
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 Financial investmentsFinancial investmentsFinancial investmentsFinancial investments    1.6.21.6.21.6.21.6.2

Financial investments of insurance activities are accounted for in accordance with the rules defined by 

IAS 39. 

Classification of financial investmentsClassification of financial investmentsClassification of financial investmentsClassification of financial investments    

IAS 39 classifies financial assets into four categories: held-to-maturity financial assets, financial assets 

at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets. 

Held-to-maturity financial assets 

Held-to-maturity financial assets are investments with fixed or determinable payments and fixed 

maturity that the Group has the intention and ability to hold until maturity. 

Assets in this category are accounted for at amortised cost using the effective interest method, which 

includes acquisition costs (where material) and amortisation of premiums and discounts 

(corresponding to the difference between the purchase price and redemption value of these securities). 

Income earned on these securities is presented under "Investment income" in the profit and loss 

account. 

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 

With the exception of derivatives, the category of "Financial instruments at fair value through profit or 

loss" includes financial assets that the Group has chosen at its discretion to recognise and measure at 

fair value through profit or loss from the outset, in accordance with the option offered by IAS 39 and in 

compliance with the conditions set by that standard, namely: 

� hybrid financial instruments containing one or more embedded derivatives which otherwise 

would have been separated and accounted for separately; 

� when the use of the option provided by IAS 39 eliminates or significantly reduces an 

inconsistency in the valuation and recognition of assets and liabilities that would result from 

their classification in separate accounting categories; 

� when a group of financial assets and/or financial liabilities is managed and measured on the 

basis of fair value, in accordance with a duly documented risk management and investment 

strategy. 

 

Securities in this category are measured at fair value at the closing date. Acquisition costs are directly 

posted in the profit and loss account. 

At the closing date, they are valued at their fair value. 

The changes in value recorded compared to the last valuation, which were established excluding 

interest accrued for fixed-income securities, excluding dividends for variable-income securities and 

excluding realised gains and losses, are presented, in the event of profit or loss, under "Changes in 

value of investments recognised at fair value through profit or loss". 
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Income earned on fixed-income securities classified in this category is shown under "Investment 

Income". 

Loans and receivables 

Securities with fixed or determinable payments that are not traded on an active market, apart from 

securities for which the owner may not recover almost all of its initial investment due to reasons other 

than credit deterioration, are classified as “Loans and receivables” if they do not meet the criteria to be 

classified as “Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss”. 

In particular, subordinated notes that are not listed on an active market are included in "Loans and 

receivables". 

Loans and receivables are initially measured at fair value or equivalent which, as a general rule, 

corresponds to the net amount initially disbursed. 

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method after deduction of capital repayments and any interest that may have accrued. 

Interest is calculated using the effective interest rate method, which includes interest, transaction costs 

and commissions included in their initial value. 

Available-for-sale financial assets 

The category "Available-for-sale financial assets" includes fixed-income securities and variable-income 

securities that do not fall under the other three categories of financial assets defined by IAS 39. 

Assets included in the available-for-sale category are initially recorded at fair value, plus acquisition 

costs where material.  

At the closing date, they are remeasured at fair value, with changes in fair value (excluding accrued 

interest) shown on a separate line in shareholders’ equity.  

Upon disposal, amounts previously recognised in shareholders’ equity will be transferred to profit or 

loss under "Capital gains and losses on disposal of investments net of reversals of impairments, 

depreciation and amortisation". The same applies in the event of impairment. 

Revenue recognised using the effective interest method for fixed-income securities in this category are 

presented in "Investment income". The same applies to dividends received for variable-income 

securities on the date of payment.  

Impairment of heldImpairment of heldImpairment of heldImpairment of held----totototo----maturity assets and loans and recematurity assets and loans and recematurity assets and loans and recematurity assets and loans and receivablesivablesivablesivables    

An impairment loss is recognised against held-to-maturity financial assets and loans and receivables 

where (i) there is objective evidence of a decrease in value as a result of an event occurring after 

inception of the loan or acquisition of the asset; (ii) the event affects the amount or timing of future 

cash flows; and (iii) the consequences of the event can be reliably measured. 

Analysis for evidence of an impairment 

Analysis for evidence of an impairment is conducted at the individual level. An objective indication of 

impairment is any observable data pertaining to the following events: 
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� the existence of accounts that are more than three months past due; 

� knowledge or indications that the borrower meets significant financial difficulty, such that a risk 

can be considered to have arisen regardless of whether the borrower has missed any 

payments; 

� concessions granted to the loan terms that the lender would not have considered had the 

borrower not been experiencing financial difficulty. 

Impairment is measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset before 

impairment and the value of its components deemed recoverable (principal, interest, guarantees, etc.).  

The recoverable amount is the present value at the original effective interest rate of the estimated 

future cash flows.  

Recognition of impairment in the profit and loss account 

Changes in the value of the assets thus impaired are recorded in the profit and loss account under 

"Investment income excluding financing charges" and, depending on the nature of the asset 

concerned, under "Changes in provisions on investments". 

Any subsequent reassessment of the asset due to an objective cause that occurred after its 

impairment is recognised through profit and loss, also under "Changes in impairments on investments". 

Once an asset has been impaired, the theoretical income earned on the net carrying amount of the 

asset calculated at the original effective interest rate used to discount the estimated recoverable cash 

flows is recognised under “Investment income” in the profit and loss account. 

Recognition of impairment of held-to-maturity assets and loans and receivables 

Impairment losses on held-to-maturity assets and loans and receivables are recorded in a separate 

provision account which reduces the original recorded asset amount. 

Impairment of availableImpairment of availableImpairment of availableImpairment of available----forforforfor----sale financial assetssale financial assetssale financial assetssale financial assets    

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets (which mainly comprise securities) is recognised on 

an individual basis if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events 

occurring since acquisition. 

Impairment of variable-income securities classified as available-for-sale financial assets 

In the case of variable-income securities quoted in an active market, the control system identifies 

securities that may be impaired on a long-term basis and is based on criteria such as a significant 

decline in quoted price below the acquisition cost or a constant decline, which prompts the Group to 

carry out an additional individual qualitative analysis. This may lead to the recognition of an 

impairment loss calculated on the basis of the quoted price. 

Apart from the identification criteria, the Group has determined three indications of impairment, one 

being a significant decline in price, defined as a fall of more than 50% of the acquisition price, another 

being a constant decline over two consecutive years and the final one being a decline on average of at 

least 30% over an observation period of one year. The Group believes that a period of two years is 
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what is necessary for a moderate decline in price below the purchase cost to be considered as 

something more than just the effect of random volatility inherent in the stock markets or a cyclical 

change lasting a few years, but which represents a lasting phenomenon justifying an impairment. 

A similar method is applied for variable-income securities not quoted in an active market. Any 

impairment is then determined based on the model value. 

Impairment of fixed-income securities classified as available-for-sale financial assets 

For fixed-income securities, the impairment criteria are identical to those applied to the impairment of 

loans and receivables. 

For fixed-income securities listed on an active market, impairment is determined based on the listed 

price. For all the others, it is determined based on model value.  

Recognition of impairment in the profit and loss account 

The impairment recognised for a security classified as available-for-sale financial assets, whether 

fixed-income or variable-income, is recognised under "Investment income excluding financing 

charges" under "Change in provisions on investments". 

When a security is impaired, any subsequent decline in fair value constitutes an additional impairment 

loss, recognised in the profit and loss account. 

Impairment of a variable-income security can only be reversed in the profit and loss account on the 

date the security is sold.  

Impairment of a fixed-income security may be reversed in the profit and loss account if the market 

value of the security has appreciated due to an objective cause that occurred after the last impairment 

was recognised. 

 Securities financing transactions and deferred settlement transactions Securities financing transactions and deferred settlement transactions Securities financing transactions and deferred settlement transactions Securities financing transactions and deferred settlement transactions     1.6.31.6.31.6.31.6.3

Presentation of repurchase agreements on the balance sheetPresentation of repurchase agreements on the balance sheetPresentation of repurchase agreements on the balance sheetPresentation of repurchase agreements on the balance sheet    

Securities temporarily sold as part of a repurchase agreement are still recognised in the Group's 

balance sheet in their original portfolio, with the corresponding liability recognised under "Financial 

liabilities to companies in the banking sector". 

Presentation of Presentation of Presentation of Presentation of reverse repurchase agreements on the balance sheetreverse repurchase agreements on the balance sheetreverse repurchase agreements on the balance sheetreverse repurchase agreements on the balance sheet    

Securities temporarily acquired under reverse repurchase agreements are not recognised in the 

Group’s balance sheet. The corresponding receivable is recognised under “Loans and receivables” 

Securities lendSecurities lendSecurities lendSecurities lending and borrowinging and borrowinging and borrowinging and borrowing    

Securities lending transactions do not result in derecognition of the lent securities, and securities 

borrowing transactions do not result in recognition of the borrowed securities on the balance sheet.  
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In cases where the borrowed securities are subsequently sold by the Group, the obligation to deliver 

the borrowed securities on maturity is recognised on the balance sheet under "Financial liabilities to 

companies in the banking sector". 

 DerivativesDerivativesDerivativesDerivatives    1.6.41.6.41.6.41.6.4

Derivatives are contracts included in the scope of IAS 39 that meet the following three conditions: 

� their value fluctuates according to changes in one or more underlying factors (interest rate, 

price, exchange rate, price index, credit rating, any other similar variable); 

� they require a low initial net investment or none at all; 

� such contracts are settled at a future date. 

    

Initial recognition and subsequent valuation of derivativesInitial recognition and subsequent valuation of derivativesInitial recognition and subsequent valuation of derivativesInitial recognition and subsequent valuation of derivatives    

All derivatives are recognised in the balance sheet on the trading date at their transaction price. 

At the closing date, they are revalued at their fair value. 

Changes in market value between two valuations are recognised in the profit and loss account under 

"Changes in value of investments recognised at fair value through profit or loss", with the exception of 

derivatives designated as cash flow hedging instruments and net investments abroad. 

Derivative instruments and Derivative instruments and Derivative instruments and Derivative instruments and hedgehedgehedgehedge    accountingaccountingaccountingaccounting    

Derivatives contracted as part of a hedging relationship are designated according to the purpose of 

the hedge and the accounting principles for derivatives and hedged instruments depend on the 

hedging strategy. 

Objectives pursued 

A fair value hedge
4
 is used to hedge the interest rate risk of fixed-rate assets or changes in share price.  

Cash flow hedges
5
 are used in particular to hedge the interest rate risk of floating-rate and fixed-rate 

assets, including rollovers, and foreign exchange risks of initial flows and highly probable future flows 

in foreign currencies. 

Net investment hedges
6
 in foreign currencies make it possible to hedge the foreign exchange position 

of the group in relation to its investments in foreign currencies abroad, investments in subsidiaries and 

branches in particular. 

                                                   
4
 Fair Value Hedge 

5
 Cash Flow Hedge 

6
 Net Investment Hedge 
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Formal documentation prepared at the inception of the hedge 

At the inception of the hedge, the Group prepares formal documentation which details the hedging 

relationship, identifying the instrument, or portion of the instrument, or portion of risk that is being 

hedged, the hedging strategy and the type of risk hedged, the hedging instrument, and the methods 

used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship. 

On inception and at least quarterly, the Group assesses, in consistency with the original 

documentation, the actual (retrospective) and expected (prospective) effectiveness of the hedging 

relationship.  

Retrospective effectiveness tests for hedges 

Retrospective effectiveness tests are designed to assess whether the ratio of actual changes in the 

fair value or cash flows of the hedging instrument to those in the hedged item is within a range of 80% 

to 125% (ratios applicable to fair value hedges and cash flow hedges). 

Prospective effectiveness tests for hedges 

Prospective effectiveness tests are designed to ensure that expected changes in the fair value or cash 

flows of the derivative over the residual life of the hedge adequately offset those of the hedged item.  

Recognition of a derivative in fair value hedging 

For a fair value hedging relationship, derivatives are revalued in the balance sheet at their market 

value by counterparty in the profit and loss account under "Financial income excluding financing 

charges", in line with the revaluation of the instruments hedged for the risk in question.  

In the balance sheet, the revaluation of the hedged component is recognised in accordance with the 

classification of the hedged instrument for a hedging relationship for identified assets or liabilities. 

If a hedging relationship ceases or no longer fulfils the effectiveness criteria, the hedging instrument is 

transferred to the trading book and accounted for using the treatment applied to this category. In the 

case of identified fixed-income instruments, the remeasurement adjustment recognised in the balance 

sheet is amortised at the effective interest rate over the remaining life of the instrument. In the case of 

interest rate risk hedged fixed-income portfolios, the adjustment is amortised on a straight-line basis 

over the remainder of the original term of the hedge. 

If the hedged item no longer appears in the balance sheet, in particular due to prepayments, the 

adjustment is taken to the profit and loss account immediately. 

Recognition of a carved-out fair-value hedge 

A carved-out fair-value hedge is applied to hedge the interest rate risk of a fixed rate asset portfolio. 

The hedge of financial assets reduces the change in value of portions of hedged items due to changes 

in interest rates. 

Recognition of a derivative as a hedge of future income streams 

In a cash flow hedging relationship, the derivatives are revalued at fair value in the balance sheet, 

offset by a specific line in other comprehensive income "Changes in deferred value of derivatives used 

for hedging purposes". 
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Amounts in this item over the life of the hedge are transferred to the profit and loss account under 

"Investment income excluding financing charges" as the cash flows of the hedged instrument impact 

profit and loss. The hedged items continue to be accounted for using the treatment specific to the 

category to which they belong. 

If the hedging relationship ceases or no longer fulfils the effectiveness criteria, the cumulative amounts 

recognised in shareholders’ equity as a result of the revaluation of the hedging instrument remain in 

equity until the hedged transaction itself- impacts profit or loss, or until it becomes clear that the 

transaction will not occur, at which point they are transferred to the profit and loss account. 

If the hedged item ceases to exist, the cumulative amounts recognised in shareholders’ equity are 

immediately taken to the profit and loss account. 

Recognition of the ineffective portion of the hedge 

Regardless of the hedging strategy adopted, the ineffective portion of a hedge is recognised in the 

profit and loss account under "Change in value of investments recognised at fair value through profit 

or loss". 

Net foreign investment hedges in subsidiaries or branches 

Hedges of net foreign currency investments in subsidiaries or branches are accounted for in the same 

way as cash flow hedges. Hedging instruments may be currency derivatives or any other non-

derivative financial instrument. 

The gain or loss on a hedging instrument related to the effective portion of the hedge is recognised in 

shareholders' equity. The gain or loss related to the ineffective portion of the hedge is immediately 

recognised in the profit and loss account. 

Cumulative gains and losses in shareholders' equity are recorded in the profit and loss account on the 

disposal of the foreign entity. In the case of a partial disposal, only the proportionate share of the 

corresponding cumulative exchange differences is included in the profit and loss account. 

Embedded deriEmbedded deriEmbedded deriEmbedded derivativesvativesvativesvatives    

An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid (composite) instrument that also includes a non-

derivative host contract, which has the effect of making a portion of the cash flows of the compound 

instrument vary in a manner similar to an stand-alone derivative. 

For financial contracts, the amendment to IAS 39 published by the IASB in 2005 and adopted by the 

European Commission allows a hybrid instrument (financial instrument with an embedded derivative) 

to be recognised in the category of financial instruments valued at fair value through profit or loss, 

without preliminary analysis of whether or not the embedded derivative has to be extracted. 

The Group applies this accounting method and does not deconstruct structured securities with 

embedded derivatives, which are therefore measured at fair value through profit or loss. 
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 Investments backing Investments backing Investments backing Investments backing unitunitunitunit----llllinkedinkedinkedinked    contractscontractscontractscontracts    1.6.51.6.51.6.51.6.5

Investments backing insurance or investment contracts whose financial risk is borne by policyholders 

(unit-linked contracts) are presented as a separate item in balance sheet assets under "Investments in 

unit-linked contracts", regardless of the nature of the assets backed by the liabilities (real estate 

investment, bonds, shares, etc.), in accordance with ANC Recommendation No 2013-05. 

The corresponding liabilities are also presented as specific items in balance sheet liabilities under 

"Technical liabilities arising from unit-linked insurance contracts" and "Liabilities arising from unit-

linked investment contracts". 

 Date of Date of Date of Date of recognition for securities transactionsrecognition for securities transactionsrecognition for securities transactionsrecognition for securities transactions    1.6.61.6.61.6.61.6.6

Regardless of their classification as assets in the balance sheet, securities are recognised on the 

trade date. 

Temporary sales of securities and sales of borrowed securities are initially recognised at the 

settlement date. 

For reverse repurchase agreements and repurchase agreements, a financing commitment, 

respectively given and received, is recognised between the trade date and the settlement date when 

the transactions are recognised, respectively, as “Loans and receivables” and “Liabilities to companies 

in the banking sector”. 

Securities transactions are carried on the balance sheet until the Group’s rights to receive the related 

cash flows expire, or until the Group has substantially transferred all the risks and rewards related to 

ownership of the securities. 

 Reclassification of financial assetsReclassification of financial assetsReclassification of financial assetsReclassification of financial assets    1.6.71.6.71.6.71.6.7

The only authorised reclassifications of financial assets are the following: 

� for a non-derivative financial asset which is no longer held for the purposes of selling it in the 

near-term, out of “Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss” and into: 

o “Loans and receivables” if the asset meets the definition for this category and the 

Group has the intention and ability to hold the asset for the foreseeable future or until 

maturity, or 

o other categories only under rare circumstances when justified and provided that the 

reclassified assets meet the conditions applicable to the host portfolio; 

� out of “Available-for-sale financial assets” and into: 

o “Loans and receivables” with the same conditions as set out above for “Financial 

instruments at fair value through profit or loss”, 

o “Held-to-maturity financial assets”, for assets that have a maturity, or “Financial assets 

at cost”, for unlisted variable-income assets. 

Financial assets are reclassified at fair value, or at the value calculated by a model, on the 

reclassification date. Any derivatives embedded in the reclassified financial assets are recognised 

separately and changes in fair value are recognised through profit or loss. 
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After reclassification, assets are recognised according to the provisions applied to the host portfolio. 

The transfer price on the reclassification date is deemed to be the initial cost of the asset for the 

purpose of determining any impairment. 

In the event of reclassification from “Available-for-sale financial assets” to another category, gains or 

losses previously recognised through equity are amortised to profit or loss over the residual life of the 

instrument using the effective interest method. 

Any upward revisions to the estimated recoverable amounts are recognised through an adjustment to 

the effective interest rate as of the date on which the estimate is revised. Downward revisions are 

recognised through an adjustment to the financial asset’s carrying amount. 

 Issues of debt securitiesIssues of debt securitiesIssues of debt securitiesIssues of debt securities    1.6.81.6.81.6.81.6.8

Financial instruments issued by the Group are qualified as debt instruments if the Group company 

issuing the instruments has a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset to the 

holder of the instrument. The same applies if the Group is required to exchange financial assets or 

financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the Group, 

or to deliver a variable number of the Group’s own equity instruments. 

Issues of debt securities are initially recognised at the issue value including transaction costs, and are 

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

 Own equity instrumeOwn equity instrumeOwn equity instrumeOwn equity instruments and own equity nts and own equity nts and own equity nts and own equity instrument instrument instrument instrument derivativesderivativesderivativesderivatives    1.6.91.6.91.6.91.6.9

Treatment of "own equity instruments" and similar sharesTreatment of "own equity instruments" and similar sharesTreatment of "own equity instruments" and similar sharesTreatment of "own equity instruments" and similar shares    

The term “own equity instruments” refers to shares issued by the parent company and by its fully 

consolidated subsidiaries. External costs that are directly attributable to an issue of new shares are 

deducted from equity net of all related taxes. 

Own equity instruments held by the Group, also known as treasury shares, are deducted from 

consolidated shareholders’ equity irrespective of the purpose for which they are held. BNP Paribas 

Cardif does not hold its own shares. 

Gains and losses arising on such instruments are eliminated from the consolidated profit and loss 

account. When the Group acquires equity instruments issued by subsidiaries under the exclusive 

control of BNP Paribas, the difference between the acquisition price and the share of net assets 

acquired is recorded in retained earnings attributable to BNP Paribas shareholders. 

Treatment of "own equity instrument" derivativesTreatment of "own equity instrument" derivativesTreatment of "own equity instrument" derivativesTreatment of "own equity instrument" derivatives    

The liability corresponding to put options granted to minority shareholders in such subsidiaries, and 

changes in the value of that liability, are offset initially against minority interests, with any surplus offset 

against retained earnings attributable to BNP Paribas shareholders.  
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Until these options have been exercised, the portion of net income attributable to minority interests is 

allocated to minority interests in the profit and loss account. A decrease in the Group’s interest in a 

fully consolidated subsidiary is recognised in the Group’s accounts as a change in shareholders’ 

equity. 

Own equity instrument derivatives are treated as follows, depending on the method of settlement: 

� as equity instruments if they are settled by physical delivery of a fixed number of own equity 

instruments for a fixed amount of cash or other financial asset. Such instruments are not 

revalued; 

� as derivatives if they are settled in cash, or by choice, depending on whether they are settled 

by physical delivery of the shares or in cash. Changes in value of such instruments are taken 

to the profit and loss account. 

 

If the contract includes an obligation for the Group, whether contingent or not, to repurchase its own 

shares, a debt is recognised at its present value with an offsetting entry in shareholders' equity. 

 Determination of fair Determination of fair Determination of fair Determination of fair valuevaluevaluevalue    1.6.101.6.101.6.101.6.10

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants in the principal market or most advantageous market, at the 

measurement date. 

The Group determines the fair value of financial instruments for each financial asset or financial 

liability individually either by using prices obtained directly from external data or by using valuation 

techniques. These valuation techniques are primarily market and income approaches encompassing 

generally accepted models (e.g. discounted cash flows, Black-Scholes model, and interpolation 

techniques). They maximise the use of observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. 

These techniques are calibrated to reflect current market conditions. Valuation adjustments are 

applied as appropriate, when some factors such as model, liquidity and credit risks are not captured 

by the models or their underlying inputs but are nevertheless considered by market participants when 

setting the exit price. 

Assets and liabilities measured or disclosed at fair value are categorised into the three following levels 

of the fair value hierarchy: 

 

� level 1: fair values are determined using directly quoted prices in active markets for identical 

assets and liabilities. Characteristics of an active market include the existence of a sufficient 

frequency and volume of activity and of readily available prices; 

� level 2: fair values are determined based on valuation techniques for which significant inputs 

are observable market data, either directly or indirectly. These techniques are regularly 

calibrated and the inputs are corroborated with information from active markets; 

� level 3: fair values are determined using valuation techniques for which significant inputs are 

unobservable or cannot be corroborated by market-based observations, due for instance to 

illiquidity of the instrument and significant model risk. An unobservable input is a parameter for 

which there are no market data available and that is therefore derived from proprietary 
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assumptions about what other market participants would consider when assessing fair value. 

The assessment of whether a product is illiquid or subject to significant model risks is a matter 

of judgment. 

 

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the asset or liability is categorised in its entirety is 

based upon the lowest level input that is significant to the entire fair value. 

For financial instruments disclosed in level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, a difference between the 

transaction price and the fair value may arise at initial recognition. This “Day One Profit” is deferred 

and released to the profit and loss account over the period during which the valuation parameters are 

expected to remain non-observable. When parameters that were originally non-observable become 

observable, or when the valuation can be substantiated in comparison with recent similar transactions 

in an active market, the unrecognised portion of the day one profit is released to the profit and loss 

account. 

 DerecoDerecoDerecoDerecognition of financial assets and gnition of financial assets and gnition of financial assets and gnition of financial assets and financial liabilitiesfinancial liabilitiesfinancial liabilitiesfinancial liabilities    1.6.111.6.111.6.111.6.11

The Group derecognises all or part of a financial asset either when the contractual rights to the cash 

flows from the asset expire or when the Group transfers the contractual rights to the cash flows from 

the asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset. Unless these 

conditions are fulfilled, the Group retains the asset in its balance sheet and recognises a liability for 

the obligation created as a result of the transfer of the asset.  

The Group derecognises all or part of a financial liability when the liability is extinguished in full or in 

part.  

 Offsetting of financial assets and liabilitiesOffsetting of financial assets and liabilitiesOffsetting of financial assets and liabilitiesOffsetting of financial assets and liabilities    1.6.121.6.121.6.121.6.12

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net amount presented in the balance sheet 

if, and only if, the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts, and intends 

either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  

Repurchase agreements and derivatives traded with clearing houses that meet the two criteria set out 

in the accounting standard are offset in the balance sheet. 

1.7 INVESTMENTS IN ENTITIES IN THE BANKING SECTOR AND OTHER 

SECTORS OF ACTIVITY 

BNP Paribas Cardif does not consolidate companies in the banking sector but only companies in other 

sectors of activity. 

The investments of those companies follow the classification, valuation and impairment rules defined 

by IAS 39. They are presented under a specific heading in balance sheet assets where material. 
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1.8 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS 

The methods used to account for assets and liabilities relating to foreign currency transactions entered 

into by the Group, and to measure the foreign exchange risk arising on such transactions, depend on 

whether the asset or liability in question is classified as a monetary or a non-monetary item. 

 Monetary asseMonetary asseMonetary asseMonetary assets and liabilities expressed in ts and liabilities expressed in ts and liabilities expressed in ts and liabilities expressed in foreign currenciesforeign currenciesforeign currenciesforeign currencies    1.8.11.8.11.8.11.8.1

Monetary assets and liabilities are assets and liabilities to be received or paid in fixed or determinable 

amounts of cash. 

Monetary assets and liabilities expressed in foreign currencies are translated into the functional 

currency of the relevant Group entity at the closing rate. 

Translation differences are recognised in the profit and loss account, except for those arising from 

financial instruments designated as a cash flow hedge or a net foreign investment hedge (see 

paragraph "Derivative instruments and hedge accounting"), which are, in this case, recognized in 

shareholders' equity. 

For French insurance companies, this treatment corresponds overall to the one used for assets and 

liabilities that create "operational" foreign exchange positions. 

 NonNonNonNon----monetary assemonetary assemonetary assemonetary assets and liabilities expressed in ts and liabilities expressed in ts and liabilities expressed in ts and liabilities expressed in foreign currenciesforeign currenciesforeign currenciesforeign currencies    1.8.21.8.21.8.21.8.2

Non-monetary assets may be measured either at historical cost or at fair value. Non-monetary assets 

expressed in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction if 

they are measured at historical cost, and at the closing rate if they are measured at fair value. 

Translation differences on non-monetary assets expressed in foreign currencies and measured at fair 

value (variable-income securities) are recognised in the profit and loss account if the asset is classified 

under “Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss”, and in shareholders’ equity if the asset is 

classified under “Available-for-sale financial assets”, unless the financial asset in question is 

designated as an item hedged against foreign exchange risk in a fair value hedging relationship, in 

which case the translation difference is recognised in the profit and loss account. 

1.9 SHARE OF REINSURERS IN LIABILITIES RELATED TO INSURANCE AND 

INVESTMENT CONTRACTS 

The reinsurers' share of insurance and investment contract liabilities represents the estimated risk 

transferred to reinsurers under the reinsurance treaties. 

In accordance with IFRS 4 and IAS 1, it is presented as an asset on the balance sheet and is not 

offset by related insurance liabilities. 

In accordance with IFRS 4, an impairment test is performed on assets held for reinsurance ceded. 

Assets for reinsurance ceded are impaired if: 
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� there is tangible evidence, as a result of an event occurring after initial recognition of the asset 

for reinsurance ceded, that the disposing company may not receive all amounts owed to it 

under the terms of the contract; and  

� this event has a reliably measurable impact on the amounts that the disposing company will 

receive from the reinsurer. 

 

1.10 DEFERRED ACQUISITION COSTS OF INSURANCE POLICIES AND 

INVESTMENT CONTRACTS 

The direct costs related to the design of a new contract or the acquisition of an insurance or 

investment contract portfolio consist mostly of the remuneration of the contributors (agents, general 

agents, brokers), the cost of designing and issuing the contract, premium collection fees, etc. These 

fees constitute acquisition costs for which the accounting treatment depends on the classification of 

the contract at issue. 

 Deferred acquisition costs of contractsDeferred acquisition costs of contractsDeferred acquisition costs of contractsDeferred acquisition costs of contracts    within the scopewithin the scopewithin the scopewithin the scope    of IFRS 4 of IFRS 4 of IFRS 4 of IFRS 4     1.10.11.10.11.10.11.10.1

Expenses incurred in a given year for the acquisition of new origination (new contracts, additional 

payments on contracts in force, increase in guarantees) are generally covered by the premiums for the 

year. However, in some cases, they are recovered both on the income for the year in question and on 

subsequent revenues.  

Since IFRS 4 authorises the recognition of assets and liabilities according to the standards existing 

before the application of IFRS, the deferred acquisition costs are therefore recognised according to 

the French consolidation rules applicable to insurance companies.  

Life insurance contracts and investment contractsLife insurance contracts and investment contractsLife insurance contracts and investment contractsLife insurance contracts and investment contracts    with with with with discretionarydiscretionarydiscretionarydiscretionary    participatingparticipatingparticipatingparticipating    featurefeaturefeaturefeature    

In life insurance, acquisition costs are deferred within the limits of the expected future net margins of 

the contracts at issue, including the duly justified financial margin, in particular when there is a 

difference between the discount rate used and the prudently evaluated projected rate of return for the 

assets. 

They are amortised on the basis of the recognition rate of those future margins thus determined and 

revalued at the end of each financial year. 

If future margins become insufficient under the amortisation plan, deferred acquisition costs are 

subject to extraordinary amortisation. 

This treatment is mainly applied to upfront discounted commissions of life insurance contracts sold 

abroad. 

According to French consolidation rules, the acquisition expenses included in the premiums must be 

carried forward symmetrically to the deferred acquisition costs. The BNP Paribas Cardif Group does 

not apply this rule when the acquisition costs are not carried forward. 
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Acquisition fees paid to affiliated companies of BNP Paribas Group are not carried forward, as the 

commissions paid are offset by the acquisition costs. 

NonNonNonNon----Life Insurance ContractsLife Insurance ContractsLife Insurance ContractsLife Insurance Contracts    

In non-life insurance, the deferred acquisition costs related to the borrowers' insurance contracts 

correspond solely to unvested commissions, and amortisation is carried out on a basis consistent with 

the one used for the deferral of unearned premiums. 

 Deferred acquisition costs of investment contracts Deferred acquisition costs of investment contracts Deferred acquisition costs of investment contracts Deferred acquisition costs of investment contracts without participating without participating without participating without participating 1.10.21.10.21.10.21.10.2

feature feature feature feature under IAS 39under IAS 39under IAS 39under IAS 39    

Costs incurred at the inception of investment contracts without discretionary participation (additional 

external costs directly related to asset management services) are also recorded as balance sheet 

assets. These costs are amortised over the life of the contracts. 

1.11 SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY - GROUP SHARE 

Changes in fair value of assets and liabilities recognised directly in equity Changes in fair value of assets and liabilities recognised directly in equity Changes in fair value of assets and liabilities recognised directly in equity Changes in fair value of assets and liabilities recognised directly in equity     

The item "Changes in fair value of assets and liabilities recognised directly in equity" in balance sheet 

liabilities includes differences arising from the revaluation at fair value of financial assets and the 

resulting cumulative impact of deferred taxes. 

These differences correspond in particular to unrealised gains and losses resulting from the 

revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets carried out in accordance with the provisions defined 

by IAS 39, plus the cumulative impact of the shadow accounting expense or gain for those assets (see 

Policyholders' surplus reserve below). 

These differences also include the impacts of the revaluation of the derivatives used for cash flow 

hedges. 

Finally, in accordance with IAS 21 "Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates", these differences 

also include the effects of the revaluation of derivatives used as net foreign investment hedges. 

1.12 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 

Non-controlling interests, also called minority interests, represent the share held by third parties in the 

net assets and net income of fully consolidated Group companies whose capital is not fully owned, 

directly or indirectly, by the consolidating parent company. 
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1.13 SUBORDINATED DEBT 

The classification of undated subordinated debt as financing debt is based on the analysis of the 

contractual clauses and the criteria defined by IAS 32. These clauses specify that the issuing 

company reserves the right to repay its debt in advance. 

Subordinated debt is measured at amortised cost, as are debt securities in issue (see "Issues of debt 

securities"). 

 

1.14 TECHNICAL LIABILITIES RELATED TO INSURANCE CONTRACTS AND 

INVESTMENT CONTRACTS 

 Classification of contractsClassification of contractsClassification of contractsClassification of contracts    1.14.11.14.11.14.11.14.1

The contracts issued by the BNP Paribas Cardif Group fall into two categories: 

� insurance and reinsurance contracts and investment contracts with discretionary participating 

feature, which fall under IFRS 4 "Insurance Contracts"; 

� investment contracts with no discretionary participating feature, which fall under IAS 39 

"Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement". 

Contracts that fall under IFRS 4Contracts that fall under IFRS 4Contracts that fall under IFRS 4Contracts that fall under IFRS 4    

Insurance and reinsurance contracts (acceptances) 

IFRS 4 defines insurance contracts and the significant risks borne by insurers: "an insurance contract 

is a contract in which one party (the insurer) accepts a significant insurance risk from another party 

(the policyholder) by agreeing to indemnify the policyholder if a specified uncertain future event (the 

insured event) adversely affects the policyholder." 

An insurance risk is significant if and only if the insured event can force the insurer to pay significant 

additional benefits in any scenario, excluding scenarios that lack commercial substance (i.e. have no 

noticeable effect on the economics of the transaction).  

The main insurance risks relate to mortality (death coverage), longevity (life insurance, e.g. life 

annuities), morbidity (disability benefits), disability, health (medical coverage), unemployment and civil 

liability and damage to property. 

These types of risks are controlled by the use of appropriate mortality tables (certified tables in the 

case of annuity-holders), medical screening appropriate to the level of benefit offered, statistical 

monitoring of insured populations, and reinsurance programmes. 

In the case of savings contracts, BNP Paribas Cardif distinguishes two types of risks that enable these 

contracts to be classified as insurance contracts in accordance with IFRS 4:  

� risk of survival: in the event of a life annuity in service or of a deferred life annuity, if the 

annuity is compulsory;  



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2017 

 

 
2017 BNP Paribas Cardif Group 

43 

� risk of death: if the death benefit is greater than the surrender value of the contracts.  

BNP Paribas Cardif thus refers to the following criteria to define the classification of these contracts as 

insurance contracts: 

� minimum death coverage for the General Fund, where the death benefit is at least equal to 

105% of the surrender value; 

� minimum coverage for unit-linked contracts to cover unfavourable changes in the financial 

markets; this guarantee is always qualified as an insurance risk;  

� annuities, if the annuity is in use or the annuity paid is optional after the accumulation phase 

but the rate is guaranteed at the time of the subscription, or the annuity paid is obligatory after 

the accumulation phase.  

The following contracts meet the definition of an insurance contract and are considered as falling 

under IFRS 4:  

� euro contracts backed by the General Fund with minimum coverage;  

� multiple investments contracts with minimum coverage;  

� unit-linked contracts with minimum coverage.  

Investment contracts with discretionary participating feature 

Investment contracts do not expose the insurer to significant insurance risk. 

Discretionary participation is defined by IFRS 4 as the contractual right to receive, in addition to 

guaranteed benefits, complementary benefits: 

� that probably represent a significant proportion of the total contractual benefits; 

� whose amount or maturity is contractually at the discretion of the issuer; and 

� those are contractually based on the performance of a specified set of contracts or a specified 

type of contract, for realised and/or unrealised investment returns on a portfolio of specified 

assets held by the issuer or on the profit and loss account of the company, a fund or other 

entity that issues the contract. 

Savings contracts in euros and certain multiple investments contracts meet this definition and are 

therefore discretionary profit-sharing investment contracts. 

The following contracts qualify as investment contracts with discretionary participating feature and 

thus fall within the scope of IFRS 4: 

� euro contracts backed by the General Fund with no minimum coverage; 

� multiple investments contracts with a General Fund component without minimum coverage. 

Financial guarantee contracts 

Financial guarantee contracts fall under IAS 39, but may be measured and recognised in accordance 

with IFRS 4 if they are issued in the form of insurance contracts that comply with the requirements of 

both standards. BNP Paribas Cardif has chosen to treat the contracts under IFRS 4. 
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Contracts that fall Contracts that fall Contracts that fall Contracts that fall under IAS 39 under IAS 39 under IAS 39 under IAS 39     

Investment contracts without discretionary participating feature consist primarily of unit-linked 

contracts that do not meet the definition of insurance and investment contracts with discretionary 

participation.  

 

 Recognition of contracts undRecognition of contracts undRecognition of contracts undRecognition of contracts under IFRS 4er IFRS 4er IFRS 4er IFRS 4    1.14.21.14.21.14.21.14.2

General principles for recognising insurance liabilities under IFRS 4General principles for recognising insurance liabilities under IFRS 4General principles for recognising insurance liabilities under IFRS 4General principles for recognising insurance liabilities under IFRS 4    

Maintenance of accounting rules prior to transition to IFRS 

IFRS 4 exempts an insurer temporarily (until the adoption of IFRS 17) from certain obligations arising 

from other IFRS, in particular regarding the accounting policies applicable to insurance contracts.  

In general, IFRS 4 allows insurers to continue applying the accounting principles and methods related 

to insurance liabilities currently in force locally (CRC Regulation No. 2000-05 regarding the 

consolidated financial statements of insurance companies, whose provisions are based heavily on the 

French Insurance Code and ANC Regulation No 2015-11 regarding the annual financial statements of 

insurance companies), provided that they do not conflict with specific provisions of IFRS 4. 

Specific provisions introduced by IFRS 4 

IFRS 4 introduced specific rules that apply regardless of previous accounting standards. 

Accordingly, IFRS 4 prohibits the recognition as a liability of provisions for future contingent claims 

(such as provisions for catastrophic risk and equalisation reserves) if such claims are generated by 

insurance contracts that have not yet been purchased, unless such provisions are contractually due to 

the policyholders or relate to contracts in progress on the closing date of the financial statements (see 

"Technical provisions for life insurance contracts and investment contracts with discretionary 

participating feature"). 

IFRS 4 also requires a liability adequacy test. 

In addition, IFRS 4 requires insurers to keep insurance liabilities on its balance sheet until they are 

extinguished, cancelled, or expired. 

Regarding reinsurance, the standard prohibits the offsetting of insurance liabilities with the 

corresponding reinsurance assets and the offsetting of reinsurance treaty income and expenses with 

the expenses or income arising from the corresponding insurance contracts and requires insurers to 

examine whether assets held for reinsurance ceded are impaired. 

Finally, IFRS 4 allows an insurer to change its accounting policies for insurance contracts if and only if 

the change makes the financial statements more relevant and reliable.  

Technical reserves for nonTechnical reserves for nonTechnical reserves for nonTechnical reserves for non----life insurance contractslife insurance contractslife insurance contractslife insurance contracts    
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Technical reserves for non-life insurance contracts include provisions corresponding to the remaining 

guarantee period (provisions for unearned premiums, provisions for risks in progress and provisions 

for increasing risks) and provisions for claims incurred but not settled (provisions for claims payable 

and policy liabilities for annuities).  

Unearned premiums reserve 

For all current contracts, the purpose of unearned premiums reserve is to record the portion of 

premiums issued and premiums yet to be issued for the period between the inventory date and the 

next premium due date or, if missing that, the end of the contract. 

Unexpired risks reserve 

For all current contracts, the purpose of unexpired risks reserve is to cover the claims and contract 

expenses for the period between the inventory date and the first premium due date that may give rise 

to the revision of the premium or, failing that, between the inventory date and the end of the contract, 

for the part of that cost that is not covered by the provision for unearned premiums. 

In the IFRS financial statements, this reserve is determined on the basis of a projected estimate of 

expenses, contrary to the retrospective approach in force in French GAAP. 

Increasing risks reserve 

The increasing risks reserve relates to risks of illness and disability. They are created for contracts 

with constant regular premiums, for which the risk increases with the age of the policyholders. Its 

amount is equal to the difference between the present values of the commitments taken by the Group 

and by the policyholder respectively. 

Claims reserves 

Claims reserves are the result of an estimate of the cost of all unpaid claims at the end of the year, 

whether they are reported or late, i.e.-- claims not yet reported or claims reported but whose valuation 

may be subject to subsequent changes. This estimate is made either by file or on the basis of 

triangulation methods or, if the history of claims is not sufficient, according to fixed-parameter 

approaches 

Those are increased by a claims management handling reserve that corresponds to the estimate of 

the operating expenses attached to the claims provisioned. 

These provisions are reduced by the amount of the recoveries to be received by reference to the 

remedies estimated by reference to the recoveries observed in prior years. 

Mathematical reserves for annuities 

The mathematical reserves for annuities represent the present value of the company's commitments 

with respect to annuities and associated costs. 
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Technical reserves for life insurance and investment contracts with discretionary profitTechnical reserves for life insurance and investment contracts with discretionary profitTechnical reserves for life insurance and investment contracts with discretionary profitTechnical reserves for life insurance and investment contracts with discretionary profit----

sharingsharingsharingsharing    

Mathematical reserves 

The mathematical reserves for life insurance and investment contracts with discretionary participating 

feature represent the difference between the present values of the commitments taken by the Group 

and the commitments taken by the insureds, i.e. the difference between the value of the benefits to be 

financed by the Group and the premiums yet to be paid by the policyholder on the day of the 

calculation of the reserves, with this calculation taking into account the probability of realisation of 

those commitments. 

The rates used by the Group for the discounting of commitments correspond to the rates authorised 

by regulations. These rates are broadly representative of rates that are at most equal to the 

conservatively estimated rate of return on the assets allocated to represent those commitments. 

For certain collective contracts covering life risks (mainly death) and issued in branches, detailed 

information for each insured person is not available as required for the calculation of technical 

reserves. In such cases, the mathematical reserve is approximated using a premium deferral 

approach applied contract by contract after deduction of acquisition costs. 

Handling expenses reserve 

Future management expenses of the contracts are covered by a handling expenses reserve if they are 

not covered by future resources. 

Reserves for unit-linked contracts under IFRS 4 

Technical reserves on variable insurance contracts are revalued based on the fair value of the unit-

linked contract at the closing date. 

The minimum coverage in the event of death is subject to a separate provision calculation. 

Claims reserves 

Claims reserves relate to claims incurred and reported. They are valued by applying the technical 

bases used for risk pricing and including the estimate of claims settlement costs. 

Late reported claims are valued either using a fixed rate where the claims history is not adequate, or 

using triangulation methods. 

Financial assets insufficient yield reserve 

The purpose of a provision for financial assets insufficient yield reserve is to offset a decline in the 

return on assets compared to guaranteed interest rate commitments on contracts other than unit-

linked contracts. 

Provisions for financial assets insufficient yield reserve recognised in the parent company financial 

statements are restated in the consolidated financial statements whenever the mathematical 

provisions are valued on the basis of conservative discount rates lower than or equal to the 
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conservatively estimated provisional rates of return of the assets allocated to represent them in each 

entity. 

Provisions specific to diversified life contracts and Eurocroissance 

For diversified contracts and Eurocroissance, a technical diversification reserve is created to absorb 

fluctuations in the values of the assets backing the contract, and over which each policyholder holds 

individual rights in the form of units. This provision is supplemented by all or part of the premiums paid 

by policyholders and by the share of the contract return that is not allocated as technical reserves or 

collective provisions for deferred diversification. It can also be supplemented by the recovery of a 

collective provision for diversification. It is reduced by deduction of losses, fees charged, and 

withdrawals for benefits paid and by retention of the policyholders’ shares in technical reserves. 

For Eurocroissance contracts, the purpose of the collective diversification reserve is to smooth the 

value of contract repurchases. It can be supplemented by the share of the contract return that is not 

allocated in the form of a mathematical reserve or a provision for diversification. This provision is 

recovered through the provision for diversification.  

Deferred participation reserve 

Current deferred liability 

At the closing of the financial statements, a current reserve for deferred liability is created when 

remuneration exceeding the guaranteed minimum is allocated to policyholders or subscribers and not 

distributed to them during the period. 

Policyholders’ surplus reserve 

A policyholders’ surplus (or benefit) reserve is also included if there is a temporary difference in 

valuations between the consolidated financial statements and the parent company financial 

statements, which has an impact on future obligations to policyholders. Policyholders’ surplus reserve 

can be recorded in liabilities or assets. 

There are two different types of deferred policyholder benefit recognised in the Group’s financial 

statements. 

In accordance with the French consolidation procedures (CRC No 2000-05), unconditional 

policyholders’ participation is recognised whenever there is temporary difference between the bases 

for calculating future policyholder benefits according to the individual financial statements and those 

resulting from the bases used in the consolidated financial statements On the other hand, contingent 

policyholders’ participation whose due date depends on a management decision or the occurrence of 

an event is recognised only if the management decision has been taken or if the event is highly 

probable. In the particular case of a restatement of the capitalisation reserve, only the amount likely to 

accrue to policyholders in certain extreme scenarios is kept in a surplus reserve.  

The policyholders' surplus reserve also includes the amounts resulting from the application of shadow 

accounting described in IFRS 4, which makes it possible to offset the effects of the market valuation of 

financial and real estate assets on the value of insurance liabilities (when the remuneration of 

contracts includes realised gains and losses), deferred acquisition costs and acquired contract 

portfolios.  
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The amount of deferred participation for shadow accounting corresponds to the estimated share of 

gains and losses on the sale of assets that would accrue to policyholders if these assets were realised. 

It is determined by application to unrealised gains and losses of an estimated average policyholders’ 

participation rate determined by stochastic calculations that simulate the future allocation to 

policyholders of gains and losses under regulatory and contractual conditions in the context of various 

scenarios.  

The change in deferred participation on unrealised gains and losses on financial and real estate 

assets is recognised symmetrically with the change in the market value of the underlying assets (as 

the case may be, through profit and loss or in "other comprehensive income"). 

All deferred participation liabilities are taken into account. 

Deferred profit-sharing assets are recognised only if their allocation to future, recognised or potential, 

benefit is highly probable. The recoverability of the policyholders’ loss reserve is assessed 

prospectively, taking into account policyholders’ surplus reserve recognised elsewhere, capital gains 

on financial assets that are not shadow accounted due to accounting elections made (held-to-maturity 

financial assets and property investments measured at cost) and the Company’s ability and intention 

to hold the assets carrying the unrealised loss. The active holding is then recognised as an asset for 

its recoverable amount under "policyholders’ surplus reserve – assets". 

Technical reserves related to unitTechnical reserves related to unitTechnical reserves related to unitTechnical reserves related to unit----linked contractslinked contractslinked contractslinked contracts    

Technical reserves corresponding to commitments in unit-linked contracts 

Technical reserves for unit-linked contracts represent the Group's commitments to policyholders, 

which are expressed in Units of Account and valued on the basis of the realisable value at the closing 

date of the shares of assets that are admissible. 

Minimum guaranteed death benefit reserve 

If a minimum guaranteed death benefit is included in a unit-linked contract that guarantees to the 

beneficiary of the contract at least the initial capital invested regardless of changes in the value of the 

units of account, a minimum guaranteed death benefit reserve is created. 

This reserve is determined on the basis of actuarial methods (puts method or deterministic method 

depending on the entity). 

Technical reserves restated in the IFRS financial statementsTechnical reserves restated in the IFRS financial statementsTechnical reserves restated in the IFRS financial statementsTechnical reserves restated in the IFRS financial statements    

Equalisation reserve 

In accordance with IFRS 4, the equalisation reserve recognised in the individual financial statements 

is eliminated in the IFRS consolidated financial statements since they do not represent a liability to 

policyholders. 
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Capitalisation reserve 

A capitalisation reserve is set up in individual statutory accounts of French life-insurance companies 

on the sale of amortisable securities in order to defer part of the net realised gain and -hence maintain 

the yield to maturity on the portfolio of admissible assets. In the consolidated financial statements, this 

reserve is reclassified into “policyholders’ surplus reserve” on the liabilities side of the consolidated 

balance sheet, to the extent that it is highly probable it will be used. 

Capital losses on future assets sales reserve 

The capital losses on future assets sales reserves recorded in the individual financial statements are 

eliminated in the IFRS consolidated financial statements. 

Liability adequacy testLiability adequacy testLiability adequacy testLiability adequacy test    

In accordance with IFRS 4, a liability adequacy test is performed at each closing date for each 

consolidated insurance entity. 

This test ensures that the liabilities of insurance contracts and investment contracts with discretionary 

profit-sharing are adequate given current estimates of the future cash flows generated by those 

contracts. 

If the assessment indicates that the carrying amount of the insurance liabilities (net of deferred 

acquisition costs and related intangible assets) is inadequate with regard to estimated future cash 

flows, the total deficiency corresponding to potential losses is recognised in the profit and loss account. 

Recognition of revenue and expenses of contract covered by IFRS 4Recognition of revenue and expenses of contract covered by IFRS 4Recognition of revenue and expenses of contract covered by IFRS 4Recognition of revenue and expenses of contract covered by IFRS 4    

Earned premiums 

Written premiums correspond to premiums for life insurance contracts, investment contracts with 

discretionary profit-sharing, non-life insurance contracts and accepted reinsurance contracts in force 

during the year. 

These include premiums net of cancellation but gross of disposals to reinsurers, corrected for 

reductions and rebates granted, and changes in premiums not yet issued and premiums to be 

cancelled. 

Written premiums adjusted for changes in provisions for unearned premiums constitute earned 

premiums. 

Technical expenses for contracts 

Benefit expenses for life insurance contracts and investment contracts with discretionary participating 

feature include: 

� all benefits once they have been settled by the beneficiary; 

� technical interest and policyholders’ participation that may be included in those benefits; 

� changes in technical reserves; 

� all costs incurred in the management and payment of benefits. 
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Non-life insurance benefits expenses mainly include benefits and expenses paid, as well as the 

change in claim reserves payable. 

 Recognition of investment contracts under IAS 39Recognition of investment contracts under IAS 39Recognition of investment contracts under IAS 39Recognition of investment contracts under IAS 39    1.14.31.14.31.14.31.14.3

Investment contracts without participating feature fall under IAS 39. Most of these are pure unit-linked 

insurance contracts, with no guaranteed minimum coverage. They are recognised as deposits. 

As a result, the premiums collected for these contracts are booked directly in the balance sheet as 

deposits received, without going through the profit and loss account. Similarly, benefits paid and 

claims settled are recognised on the balance sheet in the form of deposit refunds, without impact on 

the profit and loss account. 

Incidental costs directly related to investment management of these investment contracts are also 

recognised as assets if they can be separately identified and reliably measured and may be recovered. 

They are then amortised over the contract management period symmetrically with the recognition of 

the corresponding profit. 

Charges and operating expenses relating to investment contracts without participating feature are 

recognised in the profit and loss account. The same is true of revenues acquired, which are spread 

over the estimated term of the contract. 

For unit-linked contracts, at the inventory date, the commitments related to those contracts are valued 

at the realisable value of the underlying reference assets at that date. 

1.15 PROVISIONS FOR CONTINGENCIES AND CHARGES 

Provisions for contingencies and charges are intended to cover clearly identified risks and expenses 

made probable by events that have occurred or are in progress at the end of the financial year but 

whose timing and amount are uncertain. 

A provision is recognised when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 

benefits will be required to settle an obligation arising from a past event, and a reliable estimate can 

be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount of such obligations is discounted, where the 

impact of discounting is material, in order to determine the amount of the provision. 

At the closing date, provisions for contingencies and charges are determined on the basis of the best 

estimate of the expenditure required to extinguish the obligation existing at that date. 

Provisions recorded under liabilities (other than those relating to financial instruments, employee 

benefits and insurance contracts) mainly relate to restructuring, claims and litigation, fines and 

penalties, and tax risks. 

 



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2017 

 

 
2017 BNP Paribas Cardif Group 

51 

1.16 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

Employee benefits are classified in one of four categories: 

� short-term benefits, such as salary, annual leave, incentive plans, profit-sharing and additional 

payments; 

� long-term benefits, including compensated absences, long-service awards, and other types of 

cash-based deferred compensation; 

� termination benefits; 

� post-employment benefits, including retirement bonuses in France and pension plans in other 

countries, some of which are operated through pension funds. 

 ShortShortShortShort----term benefitsterm benefitsterm benefitsterm benefits    1.16.11.16.11.16.11.16.1

The Group recognises an expense when it has used services rendered by employees in exchange for 

employee benefits. 

 LongLongLongLong----term benefitsterm benefitsterm benefitsterm benefits    1.16.21.16.21.16.21.16.2

These are benefits, other than short-term benefits, post-employment benefits and termination benefits. 

This relates, in particular, to compensation deferred for more than 12 months and not linked to the 

BNP Paribas share price, which is accrued in the financial statements for the period in which it is 

earned. 

The actuarial techniques used are similar to those used for defined-benefit post-employment benefits, 

except that the revaluation items are recognised in the profit and loss account and not in equity. 

 Termination benefitsTermination benefitsTermination benefitsTermination benefits    1.16.31.16.31.16.31.16.3

Termination benefits are employee benefits payable in exchange for the termination of an employee’s 

contract as a result of either a decision by the Group to terminate a contract of employment before the 

legal retirement age, or a decision by an employee to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for 

these benefits. 

Termination benefits due more than 12 months after the balance sheet date are discounted.    

 PostPostPostPost----employment benefitsemployment benefitsemployment benefitsemployment benefits    1.16.41.16.41.16.41.16.4

DefinedDefinedDefinedDefined----contribution plans and definedcontribution plans and definedcontribution plans and definedcontribution plans and defined----benefit plansbenefit plansbenefit plansbenefit plans    

In accordance with IFRS, the BNP Paribas Group draws a distinction between defined-contribution 

plans and defined-benefit plans. 
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Defined-contribution plans do not give rise to an obligation for the Group and do not require a 

provision. The amount of the employer’s contributions payable during the period is recognised as an 

expense. 

Only defined-benefit schemes give rise to an obligation for the Group. This obligation must be 

measured and recognised as a liability by means of a provision. 

The classification of plans into these two categories is based on the economic substance of the plan, 

which determines whether the Group has a legal or constructive obligation to pay the agreed benefits 

to employees. 

Valuation and recognition of postValuation and recognition of postValuation and recognition of postValuation and recognition of post----employment benefit obligations under definedemployment benefit obligations under definedemployment benefit obligations under definedemployment benefit obligations under defined----benefit benefit benefit benefit 

plansplansplansplans        

Post-employment benefit obligations under defined-benefit plans are measured using actuarial 

techniques that take demographic and financial assumptions into account. 

The net liability recognised with respect to post-employment benefit plans is the difference between 

the present value of the defined-benefit obligation and the fair value of any plan assets. 

The present value of the defined-benefit obligation is measured on the basis of the actuarial 

assumptions applied by the Group, using the projected unit credit method. 

This method takes into account various parameters, specific to each country or Group entity, such as 

demographic assumptions, the probability that employees will leave before retirement age, salary 

inflation, a discount rate, and the general inflation rate. These parameters are specified in the note 

relating to obligations under defined-benefit plans and other post-employment benefits. 

When the value of the plan assets exceeds the amount of the obligation, an asset is recognised if it 

represents a future economic benefit for the Group in the form of a reduction in future contributions or 

a future partial refund of amounts paid into the plan. 

The annual expense recognised in the profit and loss account under “Salaries and employee benefits”, 

with respect to defined-benefit plans includes the current service cost (the rights vested by each 

employee during the period in return for service rendered), the net interests linked to the effect of 

discounting the net defined-benefit liability (asset), the past service cost arising from plan amendments 

or curtailments, and the effect of any plan settlements. 

Remeasurements of the net defined-benefit liability (asset) are recognised in shareholders’ equity and 

are never reclassified to profit or loss. They include actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan 

assets and any changes in the effect of asset ceiling (excluding amounts included in net interest on 

the defined-benefit liability or asset). 

1.17 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 

Share-based payment transactions are payments based on shares issued by the Group, whether the 

transaction is settled in the form of equity or cash of which the amount is based on trends in the value 

of BNP Paribas shares.  
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BNP Paribas Group grants employees stock subscription option plans and deferred share-based or 

share price-linked cash-settled compensation plans, and also offers them the possibility to purchase 

specially-issued BNP  Paribas shares at a discount, on condition that they retain the shares for a 

specified period. 

Some BNP Paribas Cardif employees have benefited from such plans in the past. 

IFRS 2 requires share-based payments granted after 7 November 2002 to be recognised as an 

expense. The amount recognised is the value of the share-based payment granted to the employee. 

1.18 CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXES 

 Current taxesCurrent taxesCurrent taxesCurrent taxes    1.18.11.18.11.18.11.18.1

The current income tax charge is determined on the basis of the tax laws and tax rates in force in each 

country in which the Group operates during the period in which the income is generated. 

 Deferred taxesDeferred taxesDeferred taxesDeferred taxes    1.18.21.18.21.18.21.18.2

Deferred taxes are recognised when temporary differences arise between the carrying amount of an 

asset or liability in the balance sheet and its tax base. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences other than: 

� taxable temporary differences on initial recognition of goodwill; 

� taxable temporary differences on investments in enterprises under the exclusive or joint 

control of the Group, where the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the 

temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 

foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and unused carry forwards 

of tax losses only to the extent that it is probable that the entity in question will generate future taxable 

profits against which these temporary differences and tax losses can be offset. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the liability method, using the tax rate which is 

expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates 

and tax laws that have been or will have been enacted by the balance sheet date of that period. They 

are not discounted. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they arise within the same tax group, they fall under 

the jurisdiction of a single tax authority, and there is a legal right to offset.    

 Recognition of current taxes and deferred taxesRecognition of current taxes and deferred taxesRecognition of current taxes and deferred taxesRecognition of current taxes and deferred taxes    1.18.31.18.31.18.31.18.3

Current and deferred taxes are recognised as tax income or expenses in the profit and loss account, 

except for current and deferred taxes relating to a transaction or an event directly recognised in 

shareholders’ equity, which are also charged to shareholders’ equity. 
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When tax credits on revenues from receivables and securities are used to settle corporate income tax 

payable for the period, the tax credits are recognised on the same line as the income to which they 

relate. The corresponding tax expense continues to be carried in the profit and loss account under 

“Corporate income tax”. 

1.19 LEASES  

Group companies may either be the lessee or the lessor in an operating lease. 

 Lessors under operating leasesLessors under operating leasesLessors under operating leasesLessors under operating leases    1.19.11.19.11.19.11.19.1

An operating lease is a lease under which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of an 

asset are not transferred to the lessee.  

The asset is recognised under tangible assets (property, plant and equipment) in the lessor’s balance 

sheet and depreciated on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. The depreciable amount 

excludes the residual value of the asset. The lease payments are taken to the profit and loss account 

in full on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  

The main contracts in which BNP Paribas Cardif acts as lessor are leases on investment properties. 

Rents for investment properties are presented in "Investment income" and depreciation thereof in 

"Investment expenses".  

 Lessees under operating leasesLessees under operating leasesLessees under operating leasesLessees under operating leases    1.19.21.19.21.19.21.19.2

The asset is not recognised in the balance sheet of the lessee. Lease payments made under 

operating leases are recorded in the profit and loss account of the lessee on a straight-line basis over 

the lease term. 

1.20 ANALYSIS OF EXPENSES BY TYPE 

Overheads for entities in the "Other activities" segment are recognised by type, whilst those for 

insurance companies are recognised by function (intended use).  

Recognition of expenses by their intended use is carried out individually for expenses that can be 

directly allocated to one category. Where an expense item has more than one function or cannot be 

directly allocated, it is split between categories using an allocation keys. The allocation of expenses to 

their intended use is carried out by the so called uniform sections method, which consists of analysing 

each consolidated company by cost centres which are allocated to the various functions. 

Expenses related to insurance activity are broken down in the IFRS financial statements as follows: 

� claims settlement costs are presented in "Technical expenses for contracts"; 

� contracts acquisition costs are presented separately; 
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� administration costs are presented separately; 

� investment management fees are presented in "Investment Expenses"; 

� other technical expenses and expenses incurred for activities outside the scope of insurance 

activities are included in "Other current operating income and expenses"; 

� transactions that by their nature are non-recurring and non-operating are included in "Other 

non-current operating income and expenses". 

Overheads of "Other businesses" are presented separately.  

As provided under IAS 1, a comparison is shown in the notes with expenses by type according to the 

following breakdown:  

� commissions; 

� salary and employee benefit expenses; 

� taxes; 

� other current operating expenses; 

� net charges/reversals to depreciation, amortisation and provisions. 

 

1.21 NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED 

OPERATIONS 

Where the Group decides to sell non-current assets and it is highly probable that the sale will occur 

within 12 months, these assets are shown separately in the balance sheet, on the line “Non-current 

assets held for sale”. Any liabilities associated with these assets are also shown separately in the 

balance sheet, on the line “Liabilities associated with non-current assets held for sale”.  

Once classified in this category, non-current assets and groups of assets and liabilities are measured 

at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell.  

Such assets are no longer depreciated. If an asset or group of assets and liabilities becomes impaired, 

an impairment loss is recognised in the profit and loss account. Impairment losses may be reversed.  

Where a group of assets and liabilities held for sale represents a cash generating unit, it is categorised 

as a “discontinued operation”. Discontinued operations include operations that are held for sale, 

operations that have been shut down, and subsidiaries acquired exclusively with a view to resell.  

All gains and losses related to discontinued operations are shown separately in the profit and loss 

account, on the line “Post-tax gain/loss on discontinued operations and assets held for sale”. This line 

includes the post-tax profits or losses of discontinued operations, the post-tax gain or loss arising from 

remeasurement at fair value less costs to sell, and the post-tax gain or loss on disposal of the 

operation.  
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1.22 USE OF ESTIMATES IN THE PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS 

Preparation of the financial statements requires managers of core businesses and corporate functions 

to make assumptions and estimates that are reflected in the measurement of income and expense in 

the profit and loss account and of assets and liabilities in the balance sheet, and in the disclosure of 

information in the notes to the financial statements. This requires that the managers rely on their 

judgement and use information available at the date of the preparation of the financial statements 

when making their estimates. The actual future results from operations where managers have made 

use of estimates may in reality differ significantly from those estimates, mainly according to market 

conditions. This may have a material impact on the financial statements.  

The following examples are among the exogenous factors that may influence future achievements: 

� national and international financial market activities; 

� fluctuations in interest rates and foreign exchange rates; 

� economic and political conditions in certain business sectors or countries; 

� changes in laws or regulations; 

� behaviour of policyholders; 

� demographic changes. 

The main balance sheet items requiring the exercise of judgement and the formulation of assumptions 

for their valuation include, but are not limited to: 

� goodwill and securities in acquired portfolios, at first recognition and for subsequent valuations; 

� mark-to-market financial instruments based on models, including unconsolidated investments; 

� insurance and financial contracts liabilities; 

� pension plans and other post-employment benefits; 

� long-term impairments of available-for-sale securities and held-to-maturity financial assets; 

� provisions for contingencies and charges; 

� deferred tax assets; 

� policyholders' surplus reserve. 

1.23 CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

The Cash Flow Statement is prepared using the indirect method in accordance with ANC 

Recommendation No 2013-05. The indirect method is the method generally used by insurers. 

 Classification of cash flows related to investing actClassification of cash flows related to investing actClassification of cash flows related to investing actClassification of cash flows related to investing activitiesivitiesivitiesivities    1.23.11.23.11.23.11.23.1

Pursuant to ANC Recommendation No 2013-05, all investment-related flows, including flows of 

securities classified as available-for-sale securities, are presented as investment transactions in the 

cash flow statement. 

This classification differs from the one adopted for the profit and loss account, in which, in accordance 

with the approach commonly used by insurance groups, income from financial investments is 
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presented in operating income. This presentation, which is consistent with the one adopted by banking 

sector groups pursuant to ANC Recommendation No. 2013-04 relating to the format of consolidated 

financial statements of banking sector institutions, allows for more consistent cash flow statement 

presentation for bancassurance groups. 

 ClassificaClassificaClassificaClassification of dividends and interest receivedtion of dividends and interest receivedtion of dividends and interest receivedtion of dividends and interest received    1.23.21.23.21.23.21.23.2

In accordance with the provisions of IAS 7 "Statement of Cash Flows" for financial institutions, 

dividends and interest received are presented as operating cash flows. 

 Presentation of investment activitiesPresentation of investment activitiesPresentation of investment activitiesPresentation of investment activities    1.23.31.23.31.23.31.23.3

In addition to the flows related to investments broken down into acquisitions and disposals, this 

heading includes: 

� acquisitions and disposals of intangible assets and tangible assets (excluding investment 

properties), including revenues (net of expenses) for those investments; 

� changes in the scope of consolidation. 

 Presentation of financing activitiesPresentation of financing activitiesPresentation of financing activitiesPresentation of financing activities    1.23.41.23.41.23.41.23.4

This heading includes only financing transactions, excluding investment transactions.  
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NOTE 2 IMPACT OF TRANSITION TO IFRS 

Preliminary remarksPreliminary remarksPreliminary remarksPreliminary remarks    

BNP Paribas Cardif published its most recent consolidated financial statements in accordance with 

French GAAP (CRC No 2000-05) as at 31 December 2016. 

The first IFRS consolidated financial statements were prepared for the year ended 31 December 2017. 

As a result, in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 1 "First-Time Adoption of IFRS", the date of 

first-time application (FTA) of IFRS by the BNP Paribas Cardif Group is 1 January 2016. As such, the 

following are presented: 

� an opening statement of financial position at 1 January 2016; 

� a statement of financial position, a net income statement, a statement of other comprehensive 

income, a cash flow statement and a statement of changes in shareholders' equity as at 

31  December 2016; 

� a statement of financial position, a net income statement, a statement of other comprehensive 

income, a cash flow statement and a statement of changes in shareholders' equity as at 

31  December 2017; 

As stated in the accounting principles (see note 1.1), BNP Paribas Cardif chose the IFRS 1 option to 

maintain the valuations already used in the context of IFRS reporting for the BNP Paribas Group 

insofar provided that they are compatible with the preparation of consolidated financial statements at 

the BNP Paribas Cardif sub-group level. The only notable exception was the reversal of translation 

reserves at the FTA date in accordance with the March 2017 IFRS IC position. 

In accordance with IFRS 1, the IFRS used for the preparation of the financial statements and 

comparative information are those applicable as at 31 December 2017. 

The valuation and accounting methods used to prepare the financial statements under IFRS are 

detailed in the note 1 accounting principles and methods, to which reference should be made.  
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Impact of transition to IFRS on the balance sheetImpact of transition to IFRS on the balance sheetImpact of transition to IFRS on the balance sheetImpact of transition to IFRS on the balance sheet    

The statements below show the impact of the transition of the BNP Paribas Cardif consolidated 

balance sheet as at 31 December 2016 from French GAAP to IFRS, with reference to the balance 

sheet prepared according to IFRS as at 1 January 2016. 
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Main reclassifications of presentation 

The classification criteria for financial assets are described in the note on accounting principles. 

On the asset side, the main reclassification of presentation relates to the investment securities 

portfolio. The application of IAS 32 and IAS 39 has led to the reclassification of the items in the 

securities portfolio to take into account the classification rules based on the investment objectives of 

the financial instruments and their valuation method, and not on their type, as it was the case under 

French GAAP. Accordingly, using these criteria, the balance sheet presents in detail investments held 

by the General Fund, distinguishing between investment properties (which fall under IAS 40), which 

are mostly held by the consolidated real estate companies (EUR 2.9 billion as at 31 December 2016), 

and financial assets (EUR 146.5 billion as at 31 December 2016), whereas investments held for unit-

linked contracts are presented under "Investments in unit-linked Contracts" and are described in a 

detailed note (EUR 42.5 billion as at 31 December 2016). 

On the liabilities side, contrary to French GAAP, IFRS classification distinguishes between two 

categories of contracts issued by the BNP Paribas Cardif Group, a breakdown of which is presented in 

"Reclassifications for presentation purposes": 

 



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2017 

 

 
2017 BNP Paribas Cardif Group 

61 

� insurance and reinsurance contracts and investment contracts with discretionary profit-sharing, 

which fall under IFRS 4, for an amount of EUR 155.7 billion as at 31 December 2016; 

� investment contracts without discretionary participating feature, which are similar to customer 

deposits under IAS 39, for an amount of EUR 3.6 billion as at 31 December 2016. 

The capitalisation reserve is cancelled in both standards, with a policyholders' surplus reserve created 

for the portion likely to accrue to policyholders. The latter is presented under "policyholders’ surplus 

reserve" on the liabilities side of the balance sheet under IFRS, whereas it was presented in "Life 

technical reserves" under French GAAP.  

Restatements related to differences in scope of consolidation 

The application of IFRS 10 has led the BNP Paribas Cardif Group to abandon the proportional 

consolidation method provided for under French GAAP, which was applied to three joint ventures. 

These joint ventures are now consolidated under the equity method, which reduces the size of the 

consolidated balance sheet by EUR 1.3 billion.  

In addition, the application of IFRS 10 has resulted in the consolidation of real estate and portfolio 

companies, which represent commitments to policyholders which, under French GAAP, were explicitly 

excluded from the scope of consolidation. In total, as at 31 December 2017, 65 additional entities are 

now fully consolidated (63 entities as at 31 December 2016) and 6 are consolidated under the equity 

method (3 entities as at 31 December 2016) and are divided as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The full details of the consolidated entities are found in the note about the scope of consolidation. 

The consolidation of these entities has practically no effect on the balance sheet total since they are 

generally held and financed for the most part by BNP Paribas Cardif, but it allows a presentation by 

type of assets underlying those investments, which were previously recognised mostly as securities in 

"Other investments" of insurance companies.  
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Main valuation restatements 

In accordance with IAS 39, "Available-for-sale financial assets" are valued at their fair value and 

changes in value, excluding accrued interest, are presented in "Other comprehensive income" (a 

specific heading under equity). As at 31 December 2016, this revaluation amounted to EUR 14.5 

billion.  

In addition, the category of "Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss" includes financial 

assets that the Group recognises and values at fair value through profit or loss from inception because 

of their intended management use or by choice. As at 31 December 2016, this revaluation amounted 

to EUR 3.3 billion. 

The other major restatements related to financial assets and liabilities mainly concern the amount of 

provisions for impairment of financial instruments and the valuation of derivatives, less cumulative 

earnings and reserves for EUR 0.2 billion, which in turn impact "Available-for-sale financial assets" 

(EUR 0.3 billion decrease), "Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss" (EUR 0.2 billion 

increase), and the net derivatives balance (EUR 0.1 billion decrease). 

In correlation with these restatements, the "shadow accounting" mechanism authorised by IFRS 4 

makes it possible to recognise a policyholders' surplus reserve. It recognises the latent rights that 

accrue to policyholders. Determined on the basis of unrealised gains and losses resulting from the 

revaluation of financial assets, it amounted to EUR 15.3 billion as at 31 December 2016, of which EUR 

12.9 billion was deducted from "Gains and losses recognised directly in equity" and EUR 2.4 billion 

from non-distributed earnings and reserves. 

Unless explicitly changed in the note 1 accounting principles and methods, insurance and reinsurance 

contracts and investment contracts with discretionary participating feature, which fall under IFRS 4, 

are valued and recognised in a manner similar to the treatment that was applied in the consolidated 

financial statements under French GAAP, as the implementation of the liability adequacy test did not 

result in the recognition of additional provisions. 

Similarly, the reclassification of provisions for non-discretionary investment contracts as financial 

liabilities under IAS 39 did not lead to a change in their valuation in the balance sheet. 

Unlike French GAAP, IAS 36 does not allow the impairment of goodwill and introduces a mandatory 

annual impairment test. The valuation tests performed by the Group concluded that there was no 

impairment as at 31 December 2016. Goodwill relating to companies consolidated under the equity 

method is now grouped together with the value of "Investments in companies consolidated under the 

equity method". 

Other pre-tax restatements unrelated to financial instruments are negligible with respect to the BNP 

Paribas Cardif Group balance sheet. 

Total deferred taxes recognised on all taxable adjustments amounted to EUR 0.7 billion, of which EUR 

0.6 billion was deducted from "Gains and losses recognized directly in equity" and EUR 0.1 billion from 

non-distributed earnings and reserves. 
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Impact of the transition on shareholders' equity 

The statement below shows the impact of the transition on BNP Paribas Cardif's shareholders' equity 

as at 1 January 2016 and as at 31 December 2016 between French GAAP and IFRS. 
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Impact of the transition to IFRS on the profit and loss account Impact of the transition to IFRS on the profit and loss account Impact of the transition to IFRS on the profit and loss account Impact of the transition to IFRS on the profit and loss account     

The statement below shows the impact of the transition of the BNP Paribas Cardif consolidated 

income statement for the 2016 financial year between French GAAP and IFRS. 

 

 

Main reclassifications of presentation  

According to both IFRS and French GAAP, expenses by type are broken down by function (intended 

use). In the IFRS presentation, contract acquisition and administration costs as well as investment 

expenses are presented separately in the summary profit and loss account. The breakdown of 

expenses by type is presented in the separate note to the financial statements. 

Under IFRS, profits and losses related to investment contracts without discretionary profit-sharing, 

which are similar to customer deposits under IAS 39, are grouped in the line "Income from other 

activities", whereas under French GAAP, those same contracts give rise to the recognition of gross 

written premiums (income of EUR 0.4 billion in 2016), a financial result (net income of EUR 0.1 billion 
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in 2016) and provisions and reversals of technical reserves (net expense of EUR 0.5 billion in 2016), 

which impact "earned premiums", "Operating revenues" and "Operating expenses" respectively. 

In the from the IFRS profit and loss account, "financing charges" separate interest expense from the 

subordinated financings issued by the BNP Paribas Cardif Group. 

Under IFRS, there is no concept of "exceptional items", whose components have been reclassified 

under the relevant lines of the profit and loss account. 

Restatements related to differences in scope of consolidation 

The impact on the BNP Paribas Cardif Group result presented above mainly concerns the 

discontinuation of the proportionate consolidation method. The impact of the consolidation of real 

estate and portfolio companies is negligible in the profit and loss account. 

Main valuation restatements 

The impact of the revaluation of "Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss" on the 

results established under IFRS represents net income of EUR 0.4 billion for the 2016 financial year. 

Similarly, differences in the valuation of provisions for impairment of financial instruments, which are 

not reversible for variable-income securities under IFRS, and derivatives, which are measured at fair 

value under IFRS, result in a net income of EUR 0.2 billion for the 2016 financial year. 

The provision for policyholders’ benefit participation and deferred taxes created under IFRS for the 

2016 financial year for those restatements represents an expense of EUR 0.6 billion. 

Other restatements are not material as regards the BNP Paribas Cardif Group results. 

OOOOther reconciliations that may be required by IFRS 1ther reconciliations that may be required by IFRS 1ther reconciliations that may be required by IFRS 1ther reconciliations that may be required by IFRS 1    

BNP Paribas Cardif has not used any of the following IFRS 1 options and therefore does not have to 

disclose any information that would have resulted from those options. More specifically: 

� no financial assets were reclassified as Available-for-sale Assets at the transition date as 

permitted by IFRS 1 (§29) and the classification of financial assets and liabilities remains 

unchanged from the one previously used for reporting to the BNP Paribas SA Group; 

� the fair value option (original cost) as permitted by IFRS 1 (§30) was not used for tangible and 

intangible assets; 

� BNP Paribas Cardif did not use either the fair value option for its investments in subsidiaries, 

joint ventures and associates (IFRS 1 §31). It is therefore not affected by the cases referred to 

in paragraphs 31 A, B and C of IFRS 1. 

Consequently, BNP Paribas Cardif does not have to present the information that would have resulted 

from the application of those options above. 
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NOTE 3 SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION  

3.1 SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION  
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3.2 SIGNIFICANT RESTRICTIONS IN SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND 

ASSOCIATES 

 Significant restrictions related to the ability of entities to transfer cash to Significant restrictions related to the ability of entities to transfer cash to Significant restrictions related to the ability of entities to transfer cash to Significant restrictions related to the ability of entities to transfer cash to 3.2.13.2.13.2.13.2.1

the Group the Group the Group the Group     

The ability of entities to pay dividends or to repay loans and advances depends, inter alia, on local 

regulatory requirements for capitalisation and legal reserves, and their financial and operating 

performance.  

During 2016 and 2017, no BNP  Paribas Cardif Group entity was subject to significant restrictions 

other than those related to regulatory requirements. 

 Significant restrictions related to the Group’s ability to use assets pledged as Significant restrictions related to the Group’s ability to use assets pledged as Significant restrictions related to the Group’s ability to use assets pledged as Significant restrictions related to the Group’s ability to use assets pledged as 3.2.23.2.23.2.23.2.2

collateral or under repurchase agreementscollateral or under repurchase agreementscollateral or under repurchase agreementscollateral or under repurchase agreements    

The financial instruments pledged by the BNP  Paribas Cardif Group as collateral or under repurchase 

agreements are presented in notes 5.13 and 5.28. 

3.3 MAIN MINORITY INTERESTS 

The assessment of the materiality of minority interests is based on the contribution of the relevant 

subsidiaries to the Group balance sheet (before elimination of intragroup balances and transactions) 

and to the BNP Paribas Cardif Group profit and loss account. They consist mainly of minority interests 

of Cardif Life Insurances Co Ltd. 
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NOTE 4 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 

On 28  December 2017, BNP  Paribas Cardif obtained control of Italian non-life insurance company, 

Cargeas Assicurazioni, following the purchase of shares held by Ageas. Prior to the transaction, the 

BNP Paribas Cardif Group held 50% of the entity. 

The BNP Paribas Cardif Group already had a significant influence on Cargeas Assicurazioni and this 

entity was previously consolidated under the equity method. This acquisition led to the full 

consolidation of this entity. 

This acquisition resulted in a EUR 836 million increase in the BNP Paribas Cardif Group balance 

sheet at the purchase date. 

The goodwill on Cargeas Assicurazioni amounts to EUR 57 million. 
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NOTE 5 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 

5.1 GOODWILL  

 

 

Goodwill by cash-generating unit is as follows: 

 

 

Goodwill impairment tests may be based on three different methods: observation of transactions 

related to comparable businesses, or share price data for listed companies with a comparable 

business, or finaly the third based on expected future cash-flows and yield (“discounted cash flow 

method” or DCF). 

If one of the two comparables-based methods indicates the need for impairment, or in the absence of 

available market parameters, the DCF method is used.  

The DCF method is based on a few assumptions about projected revenues, expenses and capital 

requirements based on medium-term plans. Cash flows are projected beyond five years, and 

ultimately on the basis of a perpetual growth rate. 

The major parameters sensitive to the assumptions are the discount rate, the margin rates and the 

growth rate to perpetuity. 

The discount rate is determined on the basis of a risk-free rate and a risk-weighted market risk 

premium specific to each country. The values of these parameters are obtained from internal and 

external information sources.  

The level of capital is determined, for each homogeneous group, according to the required solvency 

levels as defined by the insurance regulation, in line with the capital management policies of the legal 

entities that constitute the cash-generating unit. 
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The growth rate to perpetuity used is 2% for homogeneous group of entities. 

5.2 VALUE OF INSURANCE COMPANY CONTRACT PORTFOLIOS 

ACQUIRED  

In accordance with the IFRS 4 option, the value of the acquired insurance contract portfolios recorded 

as intangible assets in balance sheet assets represents the difference between the fair value of the 

contractual insurance rights acquired and the insurance obligations assumed and the liability 

measured according to the BNP Paribas Cardif Group accounting methods.  

Consequently, the BNP Paribas Cardif Group presents the amortisation expense for the portfolio 

securities acquired on a separate line of the profit and loss account ("Depreciation on acquired 

portfolios"). 

 

 

The increase is mainly related to the acquisition of Cargeas Assicurazioni. 

5.3 OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS  

The table below presents the intangible assets other than goodwill and the value of insurance 

company portfolios acquired. 

 

 

Other intangible assets include leasehold rights, concessions, rights and patents, intangible business 

assets and intangible assets in progress acquired by the BNP Paribas Cardif Group.  

Net depreciation and amortisation expense for 2017 was EUR 57   million, compared with EUR 52 

 million for 2016. 

Net impairment reversals on intangible assets taken to the profit and loss account in 2017 amounted 

to EUR 12 million, compared with EUR 31 million for 2016. 
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5.4  INVESTMENT PROPERTY  

Investment property corresponds to land, buildings and intangible business assets acquired with the 

properties. These are representative of the assets invested as part of life insurance activity (excluding 

assets supporting unit-linked contracts which are presented under "Investments in unit-linked 

contracts"). 

 

 

The net depreciation and amortisation expense for 2017 was EUR 57 million, compared with EUR 49 

million in 2016. 

5.5 HELD-TO-MATURITY FINANCIAL ASSETS 

 

No held-to-maturity financial asset was impaired as at 31 December 2017, nor as at 

31 December  2016. 

5.6 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 
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Changes in value of assets taken directly to equity are detailed as follows: 
 

 

 

5.7 FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 

This item includes financial assets designated by the Group to be valued at market or model value 

through profit and loss. 

 

 

5.8 LOANS AND RECEIVABLES 
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5.9 DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND SEPARATE EMBEDDED DERIVATIVES  

The positive or negative fair value of derivative financial instruments classified in the trading portfolio 

represents the replacement value of those instruments. 

 Fair value by derivative financial instrumentFair value by derivative financial instrumentFair value by derivative financial instrumentFair value by derivative financial instrument        5.9.15.9.15.9.15.9.1

The market value of derivative instruments on the assets and liabilities sides of the balance sheet 

breaks down as follows:  

 

 

These amounts include the fair values of the derivative financial instruments used for hedging 

purposes, which are detailed in the table below. 

 

 

 Notional amounts of derivative financial instrumentsNotional amounts of derivative financial instrumentsNotional amounts of derivative financial instrumentsNotional amounts of derivative financial instruments    5.9.25.9.25.9.25.9.2

The table below presents the notional amounts of derivative financial instruments. The notional 

amounts of derivative instruments are merely an indication of the volume of the BNP Paribas Cardif 

Group’s activities in financial instruments markets, and do not reflect the market risks associated with 

such instruments. 
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The total notional amount of derivatives used for hedging purposes stood at EUR 4,419 million at 

31  December 2017, compared with EUR 6,490 million at 31 December 2016. 

5.10 UNIT-LINKED INVESTMENTS 

Assets representing unit-linked contracts are valued at their fair value on the closing date. 

 

 

5.11 DETERMINATION OF MARKET VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 Valuation processValuation processValuation processValuation process    5.11.15.11.15.11.15.11.1

BNP Paribas Cardif has retained the fundamental principle that it should have a single and integrated 

processing chain for producing and controlling the valuations of financial instruments that are used for 

the purpose of daily risk management and financial reporting. All these processes are based on a 

common economic valuation which is a core component of BNP Paribas Cardif business decisions 

and risk management strategies. 

In its regular assessment of asset valuation, the BNP Paribas Cardif Group has defined a policy for 

allocating levels ("Level Policy procedure"), a reference document containing the criteria to be taken 

into account for the positioning of financial instrument levels. 
  



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2017 

 
 

2017 BNP Paribas Cardif Group 

 

76 

 Description of main instruments in each level Description of main instruments in each level Description of main instruments in each level Description of main instruments in each level     5.11.15.11.15.11.15.11.1

As detailed in the note 1 "accounting principles and methods", financial instruments at market value 

are divided into three levels. This hierarchy is also applied to financial instruments, both assets and 

liabilities, which are recognised at amortised cost. 

 

 

Market value of financial instruments recognised at fair value Market value of financial instruments recognised at fair value Market value of financial instruments recognised at fair value Market value of financial instruments recognised at fair value     

The following section provides a description of the criteria used to allocate the instruments in each 

level in the hierarchy. 

� Level 1: this level includes all securities and derivatives that are listed on stock exchanges or 

quoted continuously in other active markets. 

This category includes, in particular, equity securities and liquid bonds and derivative 

instruments traded on organised markets (futures, options, etc.). It includes shares of funds 

and mutual funds whose net asset value is calculated daily.  

 

� Level 2: the Level 2 stock of securities is composed of securities which are less liquid than 

those in the Level 1. They are classified in Level 2 notably when external prices for the same 

security can be regularly observed from a reasonable number of market makers that are 

active on this security, but these prices do not represent directly quoted prices. This comprises 

amongst other, consensus pricing services with a reasonable number of contributors that are 

active market makers as well as indicative runs from active brokers and/or dealers.  

This category includes: 

o shares listed on a regulated market but whose quotation is more than weekly, 

o certain government or company bonds whose valuations are infrequent (less than one 

quotation per month), 
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o shares of funds and mutual funds with a valuation at least quarterly, 

o derivatives on an over-the-counter market; 

 

� Level 3: Level 3 securities consist primarily of fund shares and unlisted equities, mainly shares 

in non listed companies and venture capital funds. 

Unlisted Level 3 equities and other variable-income securities are valued using one of the 

following methods: share of revalued net assets, multiples of equivalent companies, 

discounting of future cash flows generated by the company's business, multi-criteria approach. 

Fair value of financial instruments carried at amortised costFair value of financial instruments carried at amortised costFair value of financial instruments carried at amortised costFair value of financial instruments carried at amortised cost    

The information regarding the market value of financial instruments recognised at amortised cost 

should be used and interpreted with the greatest caution for the following reasons: 

� these fair values are an estimate of the value of the relevant instruments as at 

31 December  2017; They are liable to fluctuate from day to day as a result of changes in 

various parameters, such as interest rates and credit quality of the counterparty. In particular, 

they may differ significantly from the amounts actually received or paid on maturity of the 

instrument. in most cases, the fair value is not intended to be realised immediately, and in 

practice might not be realised immediately; 

� estimating a fair value for financial instruments carried at historical cost often requires the use 

of modelling techniques, hypotheses and assumptions that may vary from bank to bank; this 

means that comparisons between the fair values of financial instruments carried at historical 

cost as disclosed by different banks may not be meaningful. 

The valuation techniques and assumptions used ensure a consistent measure of the fair value of the 

financial assets and liabilities recognised at amortised cost within the BNP Paribas Cardif Group: if 

prices listed on an active market are available, they are used to determine fair value. Otherwise, the 

fair value is determined using valuation techniques, such as discounting estimated future cash flows 

for loans, debts and held-to-maturity financial assets, or specific cash flow models for other financial 

instruments. The fair value used for loans, debts and held-to-maturity assets with an initial maturity of 

less than one year is the recognised value. 
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 Table of movements in Level Table of movements in Level Table of movements in Level Table of movements in Level 3 financial instruments3 financial instruments3 financial instruments3 financial instruments    5.11.25.11.25.11.25.11.2

For Level 3 financial instruments, the following movements occurred during the year: 

 

 

 

Transfers between levels may occur when an instrument fulfils the criteria defined in the new level, 

which are generally market and product dependent. The main factors influencing transfers are 

changes in the observation capabilities, passage of time, and events during the transaction lifetime. 

Transfers have been reflected as if they had taken place at the beginning of the reporting period. 

5.12 RECLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS INITIALLY 

RECOGNISED AS AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 

The amendments to IAS 39 and IFRS 7 adopted by the European Union on 15 October 2008 make it 

possible, under certain conditions, to reclassify instruments initially classified as available for sale. 

 

 

 

Without these reclassifications, net income for 2017 and 2016 would not have been significantly 

different. Similarly, changes in value of assets and liabilities recognised directly in equity would not 

have been significantly different in 2017 neither in 2016. 
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5.13 TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 

 Transfers of assets that havTransfers of assets that havTransfers of assets that havTransfers of assets that have not been dee not been dee not been dee not been derecognisedrecognisedrecognisedrecognised    5.13.15.13.15.13.15.13.1

Temporary sales of securities made under repurchase agreements are included under "Transfers of 

assets that have not been derecognised". The debt representing securities sold under repurchase 

agreements is included in the liabilities side of the balance sheet under "Liabilities due to banking 

sector companies". 

 

 

 

 Disposal transactions resulting in an outflow of assetsDisposal transactions resulting in an outflow of assetsDisposal transactions resulting in an outflow of assetsDisposal transactions resulting in an outflow of assets        5.13.25.13.25.13.25.13.2

The BNP Paribas Cardif Group has not carried out any significant transfers leading to partial or full 

derecognition of the financial assets and a continuing involvement in them. 

 

5.14 OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

The following tables present the amounts of financial assets and liabilities before and after offsetting. 

This information, required by IFRS 7, aims to enable the comparability with the accounting treatment 

applicable in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (US 

GAAP), which are less restrictive than IAS 32 as regards offsetting.  

“Amounts set off on the balance sheet” have been determined according to IAS 32. Thus, a financial 

asset and a financial liability are offset and the net amount presented on the balance sheet when, and 

only when, the BNP Paribas Cardif Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised 

amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability 

simultaneously.  

“Financial instruments given or received as collateral” include guarantee deposits and securities 

collateral recognised at fair value. These guarantees can only be exercised in case of default, 

insolvency or bankruptcy of one of the contracting parties. 
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5.15 EQUITY-METHOD INVESTMENTS 

Cumulated financial information of associates and joint ventures is presented in the following table: 
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Insurance investments consolidated under the equity method are presented in investments in 

insurance activities. 

The carrying amount of the BNP Paribas Cardif Group’s investment in the main joint ventures and 

associates is presented in the following table: 

 

 

 

 

5.16 TANGIBLE ASSETS 

 

 

 

Net depreciation and amortisation expense for 2017 was EUR 11 million, compared with EUR 12 

million in 2016. 

5.17 DEFERRED ACQUISITION COSTS AND EQUIVALENT 
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5.18 RECEIVABLES FROM DIRECT INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE 

OPERATIONS 

IFRS 4 requires that assets received on reinsurance ceded should not be offset against the 

corresponding insurance liabilities. However, this restriction mainly concerns the offsetting of gross 

technical reserves and provisions transferred to reinsurers. 

Receivables from accepted (inward) reinsurance and ceded (outward) reinsurance are presented on a 

single line in the balance sheet.  
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5.19 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND DEBTS  

 

 

5.20 SHARE CAPITAL  

 Changes in share capitalChanges in share capitalChanges in share capitalChanges in share capital    5.20.15.20.15.20.15.20.1

 

 Capital management objectives, policies and proceduresCapital management objectives, policies and proceduresCapital management objectives, policies and proceduresCapital management objectives, policies and procedures        5.20.25.20.25.20.25.20.2

Since 1 January 2016, the BNP Paribas Cardif Group has been subject to the Solvency II regulation, a 

new standard for calculating the solvency coverage ratio (Directive 2009/138/EC as transposed into 

French law). 

The objective of Solvency II is: 

� to improve risk management systems matching them more closely with the actual risks to 

which insurance companies are exposed; 

� to harmonise the insurance regulatory regimes across Europe; 

� to give more power to supervisory authorities. 

Solvency II is divided into three pillars: 

� Pillar 1: to assess solvency using what is known as an economic capital-based approach; 

� Pillar 2: to introduce qualitative requirements, i.e. governance and risk management rules that 

include a forward-looking approach to risk assessment. This assessment is called ORSA 

(Own Risk & Solvency Assessment); 

� Pillar 3: to improve the transparency of the insurance business by making solvency the 

cornerstone of disclosures to the public and the supervisory authority. 
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The BNP Paribas Cardif Group complies with this new regulation in terms of its risk management, 

governance, calculation and reporting aspects. Solvency II data are available in the BNP Paribas 

Cardif Group solvency and financial position report
7
. 

Solvency II provides for two capital requirements:  

� the Solvency Capital Requirement (SCR); 

� the Minimum Capital Requirement (MCR) or, for groups, SCR Group Minimum.  

The SCR is the level of own funds required to absorb a series of significant losses after accounting for 

the correlation between risks. It is calibrated to cover such an event with a probability of occurrence of 

once in every 200 years within a one-year horizon ("Value at Risk of 99.5%) The BNP Paribas Cardif 

Group SCR is evaluated using the standard formula.  

The Capital Management Policy of the BNP Paribas Cardif Group aims in particular to ensure the 

prudential solvency requirements are met, to cover at least 100% of the SCR defined within the scope 

of the ORSA assessment and to structure own funds so that the best balance can be found between 

the share capital, subordinated debt and other own funds elements, complying with the limits and 

levels laid down by regulations. 

5.21 FINANCING DEBT 

 Detail of subordinated debt at amortised cost and Detail of subordinated debt at amortised cost and Detail of subordinated debt at amortised cost and Detail of subordinated debt at amortised cost and financing debt financing debt financing debt financing debt securitsecuritsecuritsecuritiesiesiesies    5.21.15.21.15.21.15.21.1

The BNP Paribas Cardif Group's financing debts consist solely of subordinated debt valued on the 

balance sheet at their nominal amount. 

Transactions carried out in 2016Transactions carried out in 2016Transactions carried out in 2016Transactions carried out in 2016    

On 28 June 2016, Cardif Assurances Risques Divers issued a Redeemable Subordinated Note with a 

par value of EUR 200 million and a maturity of 10 years. This security subscribed by BNP Paribas SA 

offers a Euribor 3-Month +3.15% variable-rate coupon. The coupon is paid quarterly. This note may be 

redeemed at the end of a 5-year period.  

On 27 September 2016, Cardif Assurances Vie Divers issued a Redeemable Subordinated Note with 

a par value of EUR 650 million and a maturity of 10 years. This security subscribed by BNP Paribas 

SA offers a Euribor 3-Month +2.71% variable-rate coupon. The coupon is paid quarterly. This note 

may be redeemed at the end of a 5-year period.  
     

                                                   
7
 See corporate website https://www.bnpparibascardif.com 
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Transactions carried out in 2017Transactions carried out in 2017Transactions carried out in 2017Transactions carried out in 2017    

On 25 September 2017, BNP Paribas Cardif redeemed a redeemable subordinated note issued in 

December 2011 with a par value of EUR 753 million. This issue offered the subscriber, BNP Paribas 

SA, a Euribor 3-Month +5.20% variable-rate coupon. 

On 26 September 2017, BNP Paribas Cardif issued a Redeemable Subordinated Note with a par 

value of EUR 760 million and a maturity of 30 years. This security subscribed by BNP Paribas SA 

offers a Euribor 3-Month +2.68% variable-rate coupon. The coupon is paid quarterly. This note may be 

redeemed at the end of a 10-year period. 

On 29 September 2017, BNP Paribas Cardif redeemed a subordinated perpetual note issued in March 

2012 with a par value of EUR 710 million. This issue offered the subscriber, BNP Paribas SA, a 

Euribor 3-Month +6.35% variable-rate coupon. 

On 29 September 2017, BNP Paribas Cardif issued a Redeemable Subordinated Note with a par 

value of EUR 710 million and a maturity of 30 years. This security subscribed by BNP Paribas SA 

offers a Euribor 3-Month +2.73% variable-rate coupon. The coupon is paid quarterly. This note may be 

redeemed at the end of a 10-year period. 

On 29 November 2017, BNP Paribas Cardif issued a Redeemable Subordinated Note with a par value 

of EUR 750 million and a maturity of 7 years. This note pays a fixed-rate coupon of 1%. The coupon is 

paid annually. This note may be redeemed at the end of a 5-year period. 

On 14 December 2017, BNP Paribas Cardif issued a Redeemable Subordinated Note with a par value 

of EUR 170 million and a maturity of 30 years. This security subscribed by BNP Paribas SA offers a 

Euribor 3-Month +1.80% variable-rate coupon. The coupon is paid quarterly. This note may be 

redeemed at the end of a 10-year period. 

On 18 December 2017, BNP Paribas Cardif redeemed a redeemable subordinated note issued in 

December 2012 with a par value of EUR 277 million. This issue offered the subscriber, BNP Paribas 

SA, a Euribor 3-Month +4.75% variable-rate coupon. 

The payment of interest on the subordinated notes and the redemption of those notes may be 

deferred if the Solvency Capital Requirement (or Solvency II Minimum Solvency Requirement) is not 

met or if such payment or redemption would result in non-compliance with the regulatory requirements. 

This deferral is maintained until BNP Paribas Cardif meets the solvency capital requirement (or 

minimum capital requirement) and the payment or redemption is no longer likely to result in non-

compliance. 
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Breakdown of subordinated Breakdown of subordinated Breakdown of subordinated Breakdown of subordinated debt as at 31debt as at 31debt as at 31debt as at 31    DecemberDecemberDecemberDecember    2017201720172017    

 

 

 Schedule of subordinated debt at amortised costSchedule of subordinated debt at amortised costSchedule of subordinated debt at amortised costSchedule of subordinated debt at amortised cost    5.21.25.21.25.21.25.21.2

 

 

 Financing debt due to banking sector companiesFinancing debt due to banking sector companiesFinancing debt due to banking sector companiesFinancing debt due to banking sector companies    5.21.35.21.35.21.35.21.3

This includes foreign currency borrowings to cover equity investments in subsidiaries outside the Euro 

zone. 
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5.22 TECHNICAL LIABILITIES FROM INSURANCE POLICIES AND 

INVESTMENT CONTRACTS EXCLUDING POLICYHOLDERS' SURPLUS 

RESERVE 

In accordance with ANC Recommendation No 2013-05, liabilities arising from insurance and 

reinsurance contracts are broken down into technical liabilities related to insurance contracts under 

IFRS 4 and technical liabilities relating to investment contracts, which fall in principle under IAS 39, but 

are subdivided into discretionary profit-sharing contracts recognised in accordance with IFRS 4 and 

deposits relating to investment contracts recognised in accordance with IAS 39. 

Under these two headings, the liabilities related to unit-linked contracts are kept separate. 

The breakdown of insurance and investment contract liabilities under IFRS 4 and IAS 39 is as follows: 
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Changes in nonChanges in nonChanges in nonChanges in non----life insurance contract claim reserveslife insurance contract claim reserveslife insurance contract claim reserveslife insurance contract claim reserves    

The table below details the non-life insurance claims reserves and presents changes in them during 

the year by distinguishing between the gross reinsurance values and sold reinsurance values. 

 

 

Occurrence of claims Occurrence of claims Occurrence of claims Occurrence of claims     

The table below shows changes in claims reserves, from their initial valuation at claims' occurrence 

through to the year in which their cost uncertainty was removed. This period cannot exceed ten years. 

However, given the nature of the guarantees granted to BNP Paribas Cardif, the uncertainty horizon 

chosen does not exceed five years. 
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Changes in mathematical life insurance and investment contract provisions with Changes in mathematical life insurance and investment contract provisions with Changes in mathematical life insurance and investment contract provisions with Changes in mathematical life insurance and investment contract provisions with 

discretionary investmentdiscretionary investmentdiscretionary investmentdiscretionary investment    

The table below details life insurance mathematical reserves and presents changes in them during the 

year by distinguishing between the gross and ceded reinsurance values. 

 

 

 

5.23 POLICYHOLDERS' SURPLUS RESERVE  

 

The policyholders’ surplus reserve arises from the application of shadow accounting, which represents 

the interest of policyholders within French and Italian life insurance subsidiaries in unrealised gains 

and losses and impairment losses on assets where the benefit paid under the policy is linked to the 

return on those assets. It is valued through stochastic calculations modelling the unrealised gains and 

losses attributable to policyholders based on economic scenarios and assumptions as regards rates 

granted to customers and new business inflows.  
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5.24 PROVISIONS FOR CONTINGENCIES AND CHARGES 

 

5.25 LIABILITIES DUE TO BANKING SECTOR COMPANIES 

 

 

5.26 LIABILITIES FROM DIRECT INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE 

OPERATIONS 
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5.27 MATURITIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 

 

 

5.28 FINANCING COMMITMENTS AND GUARANTEE COMMITMENTS  
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NOTE 6 NOTES TO THE INCOME STATEMENT 

6.1 INVESTMENT INCOME EXCLUDING FINANCING EXPENSES 

"Investment income excluding financing expenses" corresponds to the definition of investment income 

given by ANC Recommendation No 2013-05, which excludes financing expenses from current 

operating income. 
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6.2 TECHNICAL CHARGES FROM INSURANCE AND INVESTMENT 

CONTRACTS COVERED BY IFRS 4 

Technical charges related to contracts include benefit expenses related to insurance contracts and 

investment contracts with discretionary participating feature (including the remuneration of 

policyholders) under IFRS 4. 

In the specific case of investment contracts, these expenses include the remuneration of policyholders 

and also changes in the value of contracts, particularly those relating to unit-linked contracts.  

 

 

 

6.3 NET RESULT FROM REINSURANCE CEDED 
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6.4 RECONCILIATION OF EXPENSES BY FUNCTION AND BY TYPE  

 Breakdown of expenses by Breakdown of expenses by Breakdown of expenses by Breakdown of expenses by functionfunctionfunctionfunction    6.4.16.4.16.4.16.4.1

 

 Breakdown of expenses by Breakdown of expenses by Breakdown of expenses by Breakdown of expenses by typetypetypetype    6.4.26.4.26.4.26.4.2

 

 

6.5 OTHER NON-CURRENT OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES 

This item mainly includes the gain realised on the sale of 4% of SBI Life shares while it was introduced 

on the stock exchange with the company's IPO (initial public offering). 

6.6 FINANCING EXPENSES 
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6.7 CORPORATE INCOME TAX 

 

 

Unrecognised deferred tax assets totalled EUR 2.6 million at 31 December 2017 compared with 

EUR 30 million at 31 December 2016. 

The total of deferred tax assets recognised as tax loss carryforwards stood at EUR 9 million. 

 

 Change in deferred tax over the periodChange in deferred tax over the periodChange in deferred tax over the periodChange in deferred tax over the period    6.7.16.7.16.7.16.7.1
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 Breakdown of deferred tax assets and liabilities by typeBreakdown of deferred tax assets and liabilities by typeBreakdown of deferred tax assets and liabilities by typeBreakdown of deferred tax assets and liabilities by type    6.7.26.7.26.7.26.7.2
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NOTE 7 SALARIES AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

7.1 SALARY AND EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE  

 

 

7.2 POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS  

IAS 19 distinguishes between two categories of plans, each handled differently depending on the risk 

incurred by the entity. When the entity is committed to paying a fixed amount, stated as a percentage 

of the beneficiary’s annual salary, for example, to an external entity handling payment of the benefits 

based on the assets available for each plan member, it is described as a defined-contribution plan. 

Conversely, when the entity’s obligation is to manage the financial assets funded through the 

collection of contributions from employees and to bear the cost of benefits itself or to guarantee the 

final amount subject to future events, it is described as a defined benefit plan. The same applies, if the 

entity entrusts management of the collection of premiums and payment of benefits to a separate entity, 

but retains the risk arising from management of the assets and/or from future changes in the benefits. 

 DefinedDefinedDefinedDefined----contribution pension plans for contribution pension plans for contribution pension plans for contribution pension plans for the the the the BNP Paribas Cardif GroupBNP Paribas Cardif GroupBNP Paribas Cardif GroupBNP Paribas Cardif Group 7.2.17.2.17.2.17.2.1

entities entities entities entities     

The BNP Paribas Cardif Group has implemented over the past few years a wide campaign of 

converting defined-benefit plans into defined-contribution plans. 

Thus, in France, the BNP Paribas Cardif Group pays contributions to various nationwide basic and 

top-up pension schemes. BNP Paribas Cardif and certain subsidiaries have set up a funded pension 

plan under a company-wide agreement. Under this plan, employees will receive an annuity on 

retirement in addition to the pension paid by nationwide schemes. 

The amount paid into defined-contribution post-employment plans for the year to 31 December 2017 

was EUR 17 million, compared with EUR 16 million for the year to 31 December 2016. 
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The breakdown by major contributors is determined as follows: 

 

 

 

 Main dMain dMain dMain definedefinedefinedefined----benefit pension plans benefit pension plans benefit pension plans benefit pension plans for for for for the the the the BNP Paribas Cardif GroupBNP Paribas Cardif GroupBNP Paribas Cardif GroupBNP Paribas Cardif Group 7.2.27.2.27.2.27.2.2

entities entities entities entities     

DefinedDefinedDefinedDefined----benefit plansbenefit plansbenefit plansbenefit plans    

Defined-benefit pension plans were all closed to new entrants and transformed into additive-type plans. 

The amounts allocated to residual beneficiaries, subject to their presence within the BNP Paribas 

Cardif Group at retirement, were fixed when these schemes were closed. These pension plans were 

outsourced to insurance companies. 

Other postOther postOther postOther post----employment benefitsemployment benefitsemployment benefitsemployment benefits    

The BNP Paribas Cardif Group employees also receive various other contractual post-employment 

benefits, such as indemnities payable on retirement, determined according to minimal legal 

requirements (Labour Code, collective agreements) or according to specific company-level 

agreements. In France, the obligations for these benefits are funded through a contract held with a 

third-party insurer. At 31 December 2017, this obligation was 74% covered by financial assets, 

compared with 65% at 31 December 2016.  

Outside France, the gross obligations related to these other benefits correspond to vested rights until 

31 December 2006, as the plans have been translated, since that date, into a defined-contribution 

plan. 
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 Obligations under definedObligations under definedObligations under definedObligations under defined----benefit plans and other postbenefit plans and other postbenefit plans and other postbenefit plans and other post----employment benefitsemployment benefitsemployment benefitsemployment benefits    7.2.37.2.37.2.37.2.3

Assets and liabilities recognised on the balance sheet Assets and liabilities recognised on the balance sheet Assets and liabilities recognised on the balance sheet Assets and liabilities recognised on the balance sheet     

 

 

Change in the present value of the defined-benefit obligation  
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Fair value of assets Fair value of assets Fair value of assets Fair value of assets     

Changes in the fair value of plan assets  
 

 

 

Components of the cost of definedComponents of the cost of definedComponents of the cost of definedComponents of the cost of defined----benefit plans benefit plans benefit plans benefit plans     

 

 

 

Other items recognised directly in equity Other items recognised directly in equity Other items recognised directly in equity Other items recognised directly in equity     
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Main actuarial assumptions used to calculate obligations Main actuarial assumptions used to calculate obligations Main actuarial assumptions used to calculate obligations Main actuarial assumptions used to calculate obligations     

Ranges of interest rate 

For the Euro zone, the BNP Paribas Cardif Group discounts its obligations using the yield of high-

quality corporate bonds, with a term consistent with the duration of the obligations. 

The ranges of rates used are as follows: 

 

 

 

For the Euro zone, the observed weighted average rate was 1.36% at 31 December 2017 compared 

to 1.34% at 31 December 2016. 

Impact of a change in discount rates on the present value of post-employment benefit 
obligations  

The impact of a 100 bp change in discount rates on the present value of post-employment benefit 

obligations is as follows: 

 

 

 

Actual rate of return on plan aActual rate of return on plan aActual rate of return on plan aActual rate of return on plan assets over the period ssets over the period ssets over the period ssets over the period     

 

 

Asset and liability management strategies Asset and liability management strategies Asset and liability management strategies Asset and liability management strategies     

The BNP Paribas Cardif Group has set up an asset management governance for assets backing 

defined-benefit pension plan obligations, the main objectives of which are the management and 

control of investment risks. 

It sets out investment principles, in particular, by defining an investment strategy for plan assets, 

based on financial objectives and financial risk management, to specify the way in which plan assets 

have to be managed, via financial management servicing contracts. 
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The investment strategy is based on an assets and liabilities management analysis that should be 

realised at least on an annual basis for plans with assets in excess of EUR 100 million and every three 

years for plans with assets of between EUR 20 and EUR 100 million. 

7.3 OTHER LONG-TERM BENEFITS  

The BNP Paribas Cardif Group offers its employees various long-term benefits, which may include 

long-service awards, the ability to save up paid annual leave in time savings accounts, and certain 

guarantees protecting them in the event they become incapacitated.  

The net corresponding provision amounted to EUR 24.9 million at 31 December 2017 (compared to 

EUR 21.4 million at 31 December 2016). 

As part of the BNP Paribas Cardif Group’s variable compensation policy, annual deferred 

compensation plans are set up for certain high-performing employees or pursuant to special regulatory 

frameworks. Under these plans, payment is deferred over time and is subject to the performance 

achieved by the business lines, divisions and the BNP Paribas Cardif Group. 

Since 2013, BNP Paribas has introduced a Group loyalty scheme with a cash payment, at the end of a 

three-year vesting period, which fluctuates according to the Group’s intrinsic performance. The aim of 

this loyalty scheme is to make different categories of managerial staff partners in the BNP Paribas 

Group’s development and profitability objectives. These personnel are representative of the BNP 

Paribas Cardif Group’s talent and its managerial framework i.e.: senior managers, managers in key 

positions, line managers or experts, high-potential managers, high-performing young executives with 

good career development prospects, and key contributors to the BNP Paribas Group results. 

The amounts allocated under this plan are linked to changes in the BNP Paribas Group’s operational 

performance over three years (for 80%) and to the achievement of the BNP Paribas Group’s 

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) targets (for 20%). These nine targets are in line with the four 

pillars on which the BNP Paribas Group’s CSR policy is based. In addition, the final payment is subject 

to continuous service within the BNP Paribas Cardif Group between the grant date and the payment 

date, provided that the BNP Paribas Cardif Group's operating income and pre-tax income for the year 

prior to payment are strictly positive. 

The net obligation related to deferred compensation plans and loyalty schemes amounts to EUR 6.6 

 million as at 31  December 2017 (EUR 6.1  million at 31  December 2016).  
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7.4 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 

 ShareShareShareShare----based loyalty, compensation and incentive schemes:based loyalty, compensation and incentive schemes:based loyalty, compensation and incentive schemes:based loyalty, compensation and incentive schemes: 7.4.17.4.17.4.17.4.1

Until 2012, BNP Paribas Cardif set up several share-based payment schemes for certain employees 

(performance shares plans and stock subscription or purchase plans). 

After 2012, only some cash-settled long-term compensation plans are still share price-linked, 

especially for employees whose activities are likely to have an impact on the Group’s risk exposure. 

 

Deferred share priceDeferred share priceDeferred share priceDeferred share price----linked, cashlinked, cashlinked, cashlinked, cash----settled compensation plans settled compensation plans settled compensation plans settled compensation plans  

As part of the BNP Paribas Group’s variable remuneration policy, deferred annual compensation plans 

offered to certain high-performing employees whose contribution is significant or set up pursuant to 

special regulatory frameworks may entitle beneficiaries to variable compensation settled in cash but 

linked to the share price, payable over several years. 

    

Global ShareGlobal ShareGlobal ShareGlobal Share----Based Incentive Plan (until 2012):Based Incentive Plan (until 2012):Based Incentive Plan (until 2012):Based Incentive Plan (until 2012): 

BNP Paribas set up a Global Share-Based Incentive Plan for some BNP Paribas Group employees, 

including stock options and performance share awards. 

The option exercise price under these plans is determined at the time of issuance and no discount is 

offered. The duration of the options granted is 8 years. 

Performance shares awarded between 2009 and 2012 became vested in 2016. 

Under stock option plans set up between 2003 and 2011, the performance condition was not fully met 

on seven out of thirty occasions and the adjustments described above were therefore implemented. 

Under performance share plans awarded between 2009 and 2012, the performance condition was not 

met on three out of ten occasions and the relevant contingent portion therefore lapsed. 

All unexpired plans settle in a potential subscription of BNP Paribas shares. 

 

Expense of share-based payment  
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Valuation of stock option plans and performance share plansValuation of stock option plans and performance share plansValuation of stock option plans and performance share plansValuation of stock option plans and performance share plans    

As required under IFRS 2, BNP Paribas attributes a value to stock options and performance shares 

granted and recognises an expense, determined at the date of grant, calculated respectively on the 

basis of the fair value of the options and shares concerned. This initial fair value may not subsequently 

be adjusted for changes in the quoted market price of BNP Paribas shares. The only assumptions that 

may result in a revision of the fair value during the vesting period, and hence an adjustment in the 

expense, are those related to the population of beneficiaries (loss of rights) and internal performance 

conditions. The BNP Paribas Cardif Group’s share-based payment plans are valued by an 

independent specialist firm. 

History of plans granted under the Global SharHistory of plans granted under the Global SharHistory of plans granted under the Global SharHistory of plans granted under the Global Shareeee----Based Incentive PlanBased Incentive PlanBased Incentive PlanBased Incentive Plan    

The tables below give details of the characteristics and terms of all unexpired plans at 31 December 

2017. 

Stock subscription option plan 

 

 

 

Movements over the past two years Movements over the past two years Movements over the past two years Movements over the past two years     
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NOTE 8 Other information 

8.1 BNP PARIBAS CARDIF GROUP INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM 

The internal control principles and methods for insurance activities in France and internationally are at 

the centre of insurance and financial regulations, and are governed by a wide range of laws and 

regulations.  

As a subsidiary of the BNP Paribas banking group, BNP Paribas Cardif applies the major part of the 

provisions laid down by the ministerial decree of 3 November 2014, which superseded regulation No. 

97-02 amended by the Consultative Committee of the Legislation and Financial Regulations (CCLRF) 

regarding the internal control of credit institutions and investment firms.  

This BNP Paribas Cardif Group internal control system complies with the requirements laid down by 

the Solvency II Directive and its application decrees and, depending on the case, by general 

regulations from the AMF (French Securities Regulator), regulations applicable to branches abroad 

and, of course, regulations specific to insurance together with relevant recognised professional uses. 

 Definition, objectives and sDefinition, objectives and sDefinition, objectives and sDefinition, objectives and standards of internal controltandards of internal controltandards of internal controltandards of internal control    8.1.18.1.18.1.18.1.1

The Executive Management of the BNP Paribas Cardif Group has set up an internal control system, 

whose main aim is to ensure the overall control of risks and provide reasonable assurance that the 

Company's goals in this area are being achieved. 

The BNP Paribas Cardif Internal Control and operational risk management policy, used on the basis of 

the BNP Paribas Group's internal control charter, specifies the scope of this system and is the 

reference base for internal control. The policy initially recalls the objectives of internal control which 

aims at ensuring: 

� the development of a risk culture among employees; 

� the effectiveness and quality of the company's internal operations; 

� the reliability of internal and external information; 

� the security of transactions; 

� compliance with applicable laws, regulations and internal policies. 

The policy then lays down the rules relating to the organisation, lines of responsibility and remit of the 

various players involved in internal control, and establishes the principle that the different control 

functions (primarily Compliance, Internal Audit, Legal and Risk Management) must operate 

independently. 

 Scope of internal controlScope of internal controlScope of internal controlScope of internal control    8.1.28.1.28.1.28.1.2

One of the fundamental principles of internal control is that it must be exhaustive in scope: it applies to 

risks of all kinds, to all activities and to all entities fully or jointly controlled by BNP Paribas Cardif. It 
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also extends to core services or essential operational activities that have been outsourced, in 

accordance with regulatory requirements. 

 Fundamental principles of internal controlFundamental principles of internal controlFundamental principles of internal controlFundamental principles of internal control    8.1.38.1.38.1.38.1.3

Internal control at BNP Paribas Cardif is based on the following key principles: 

� responsibility of the operational staff: the permanent control set-up must be incorporated 

within the operational organisation of the entities. Every operational area is responsible for 

organising an effective risk control system for the activities under its responsibility and all 

employees have a duty to alert about any failure or deficiency of which they become aware; 

� exhaustiveness of internal control (see above, under scope of internal control); 

� the proportionality to risks: the scope the number of controls must be proportional to the level 

of risk involved. These checks, if any, include one or more controls exercised by the 

operational staff and, if necessary, one or more independent permanent control functions. 

Checks exercised by an independent function may take the form of a “second look”, consisting 

of a cross-check. Any disagreements are referred to a higher level in the organisation 

(escalation process); 

� appropriate governance: the system is the subject of governance involving the various players 

and covering all aspects of internal control, be they organisation, control or oversight; the head 

office insurance Internal Control Committees, and those at all entities, are key instruments of 

such governance; 

� internal control traceability: this relies on written procedures and audit trails. In this respect, 

controls, results and exploitation, and information reported by entities to higher levels, must be 

documented and traceable. 

 Organisation of internal controlOrganisation of internal controlOrganisation of internal controlOrganisation of internal control    8.1.48.1.48.1.48.1.4

Internal control at BNP Paribas Cardif consists of permanent and periodic controls. While they are 

complementary, they are distinct and independent of one another: 

� permanent control is an overall process for the ongoing implementation of risk management 

and monitoring of corrective actions; Permanent control is firstly carried out by operational 

staff, as well as their line managers, and secondly by independent permanent control 

functions, the second line of defence; 

� periodic control is an overall process for ex post verification of the operation of the Company, 

based on investigations that are conducted by the Internal Audit function, which performs 

these functions on an independent basis; 

� exchanges between permanent control and periodic control occur regularly to optimise the 

flow of information, coordinate actions and improve the efficiency of the internal control system 

in strict compliance with the independence of periodic controls. 
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The organization of the internal control system is based on three levels of defence. 

The first line of defence is made up of the operational staff and permanent auditors at the country 

level and in the Corporate functions. 

The second line of defence is provided by four functions: the Compliance function, the Risk 

Management function, the Finance function and the Legal and Tax function. 

The third line of defence is exercised by the independent and specialised Internal Audit function, 

which oversees "ex post" verification of the smooth functioning of BNP Paribas Cardif, in particular the 

efficiency and quality of the Permanent Control system. This periodic control system is carried out 

through investigative missions, or so-called third-level controls, which are carried out independently. 

8.2 BNP PARIBAS CARDIF GROUP RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM 

Risk management is a process that allows to identify, gauge, monitor, manage and report on the risks 

arising from both outside the BNP Paribas Cardif Group and intrinsically from within. The objective is 

to guarantee the solvency, the continuity of business and the development of the BNP Paribas Cardif 

Group under satisfactory conditions of risk and profitability.  

Under the provisions of Article L354-2 of the French Insurance Code, the BNP Paribas Cardif Group 

conducts a prospective assessment of its solvency and risks under the Solvency II framework each 

year, including: 

� the ascertaining and evaluation of capital requirement specific to the risk profile; 

� the level of capital that the BNP Paribas Cardif Group wishes to hold to cover this specific 

regulatory capital requirement; 

� prospective solvency ratios under the medium-term plan; 

� the resilience of those ratios in the case of stress tests. 

Depending on the solvency observed and the projections made in the Own Risk and Solvency 

Assessment (ORSA), corrective capital adjustment actions may be initiated. 

The risk typology adopted by the BNP Paribas Cardif Group is changing in pace with methodological 

work and regulatory requirements. It is presented according to the following main categories: 
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Underwriting risk is the risk of a financial loss caused by a sudden, unexpected increase in 

insurance claims. Depending on the type of insurance business (life, non-life), this risk may be 

statistical, macroeconomic or behavioural, or may be related to public health issues or disasters. 

Market risk is the risk of a financial loss arising from adverse movements of financial markets. These 

adverse movements are notably reflected in prices (foreign exchange rates, bond prices, equity and 

commodity prices, derivatives prices, real estate prices, etc.) and derived from fluctuations in interest 

rates, credit spreads, volatility and correlation. 

Credit risk is the risk of loss or adverse financial position resulting from fluctuations in the credit 

standing of issuers of securities, counterparties and any debtors to which the BNP Paribas Cardif 

Group is exposed. Among the debtors, risks related to financial instruments and risks related to 

receivables generated by the underwriting activities (premium collection, reinsurance recovering, etc.) 

are distinguished into two categories: asset credit risk and liabilities credit risk. 

Liquidity risk is the risk of being unable to fulfil current or future foreseen or unforeseen cash 

requirements coming from insurance commitments to policyholders, because of an inability to sell 

assets in a timely manner. 

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from the inadequacy or failure of internal processes, IT 

failures or deliberate external events, whether accidental or natural. The external events mentioned in 

this definition include those of human or natural origin. 

The BNP Paribas Cardif Group is exposed mainly to credit, underwriting and market risks. The BNP 

Paribas Cardif Group closely monitors its exposures and profitability, taking into accounts its risks and 

the adequacy of its capital with regard to solvency rules. It endeavours to contain potential losses in 

adverse scenarios at acceptable levels. 

The risk strategy is implemented and controlled through an organisation tailored to the broad risk 

classes and supported by ad hoc governance structures. The governance system and the risk 

management system are presented in Part B. Systems of Governance and C. Risk Profile of the BNP 

Paribas Cardif Group Solvency and Financial Condition Report (SFCR).
8
  

 

8.3 TOTAL MARKET RISK 

Market risk arises mainly in the Savings business, where technical reserves represent over 95% of the 

BNP Paribas Cardif Group insurance subsidiaries’ liabilities. The BNP Paribas Cardif Group's 

investments are mainly managed through its subsidiary in France, Cardif Assurance Vie, and its Italian 

subsidiary, Cardif Vita, and their general funds. 

Interest rate risk management for the general insurance fund and the asset diversification policy have 

driven investment in real estate assets, equities and fixed-income securities, including government 

bonds particularly in the euro zone countries. 

  

                                                   
8
 See corporate website https://www.bnpparibascardif.com 
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As at 31 December 2017, the investments of Cardif Assurance Vie's general funds are distributed as 

follows: 

 

 
 
The investments of Cardif Vita's general funds are distributed as follows: 
 

 

  



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2017 

 
 

2017 BNP Paribas Cardif Group 

 

110 

Market risk falls into four categories: 

� interest rate risk; 

� liquidity risk; 

� spread risk; 

� change in the value of assets. 

 Interest rate riskInterest rate riskInterest rate riskInterest rate risk    8.3.18.3.18.3.18.3.1

Policyholder returns on life insurance policies are valued based on either a fixed rate specified in the 

policy or a variable rate, with or without a minimum guaranteed return. All of these policies give rise to 

an interest rate and asset value risk, corresponding to the risk that the return on admissible assets (i.e. 

assets acquired by investing premiums) is less than the contractual return payable to policyholders. In 

France, the average rate guaranteed by Cardif Assurance Vie in 2017 remains stable, at less than 

0.1%.  

In addition, 83% of the BNP Paribas Cardif Group’s mathematical reserves have guaranteed minimum 

return commitments with a term of less than or equal to two years. 

In France, to cover future potential financial losses estimated over the lifetime of the policies, a 

provision for future adverse deviation (provision pour aléas financiers) is booked when total amount of 

technical interest plus the guaranteed return payable to policyholders through technical reserves is not 

covered by 80% of the return on the admissible assets. No provision for future adverse deviation was 

booked at 31 December 2017, 2016, and 2015, as the returns guaranteed by the insurance 

subsidiaries are low and the guarantees are for short periods, resulting in only limited exposure. 

 Liquidity riskLiquidity riskLiquidity riskLiquidity risk    8.3.28.3.28.3.28.3.2

Liquidity risk is managed centrally by the Asset and Liability Management unit. Asset-liability matching 

reviews are regularly performed to measure and manage the financial risks incurred. They are based 

on medium and/or long-term profit and loss account and balance sheet projections prepared using a 

range of economic scenarios. The results of these reviews are analysed in order to determine any 

adjustments to assets allocation restrictions (through strategic allocation, diversification, use of 

derivatives, etc.) that are required to reduce the risks arising from changes in interest rates and asset 

values. 

Exposure to liquidity is appraised by way of studies carried out by the Actuarial Division on forecasted 

cash flows expected on the assets and liabilities of BNP Paribas Cardif general fund. 

Amounts from the disposal of assets required to pay the cash outflows at one-year maturity are 

studied in a range of scenarios. Apart from the baseline scenario, stressed market scenarios are 

produced such as stress conforming to the C6 Bis national specific reporting. This is used to gauge 

the ability of insurers to honour their five-year commitments under jointly degraded conditions of 

excess claims and financial environment, stress on bond market liquidity combined with a substantial 

increase in redemptions. Cash outflows are normally paid with the yearly premiums, available cash 
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and possibly regular financial income such as coupons, dividends etc. If these amounts are insufficient, 

priority disposals of assets with gains are made. 

Studies carried out show that in a baseline scenario, BNP Paribas Cardif is not exposed to a risk of 

shortfall in asset liquidity. It should be noted that the work carried out is based on assumptions of 

massive redemptions of insurance contracts. In addition, in a normal redemption situation, the latest 

studies showed that even without any new origination, cash flows stemming from the portfolio of 

financial assets are sufficient to pay all cash outflows. 

The stress tests carried out show that liquid assets are sufficient to meet outflows for one year with the 

majority of market scenarios. Only the complete illiquidity of the bond market associated with a severe 

spike in redemptions and a shock slump in major transactions would require the disposal of less liquid 

assets. 

The table of financial obligations by maturity is available in note 5.26 – Liabilities from direct insurance 

and reinsurance transactions.  

 

 Spread riskSpread riskSpread riskSpread risk    8.3.38.3.38.3.38.3.3

Limits by issuer and rating type (investment grade, non investment grade) are monitored regularly.  

As at 31 December 2017, AA-rated securities represented 36% of the market value of the bond 

securities of the main Cardif Assurance Vie General Fund. BBB-rated securities represent 28%, A-

rated securities 25%, AAA-rated securities 8%, and BBB-rated and unrated securities 3%. 

Issuer credit quality is also reviewed frequently. There is little exposure to sovereign risk in the 

peripheral euro zone countries. French government bonds represent 52% of the total market value of 

the government bonds of the main Cardif Assurance Vie General Fund. Italy accounts for 13%, 

Belgium 8% and Spain 8%.  

The main Cardif Vita General Fund consists mainly of BBB-rated securities, due to the dominance of 

Italian government securities. The portfolio contains no instruments with a rating lower than BB+. 

 Change in the value of assetsChange in the value of assetsChange in the value of assetsChange in the value of assets    8.3.48.3.48.3.48.3.4

The exposure to the risk of change in the value of the assets of the general funds is mitigated by the 

policyholders' surplus reserve attached to insurance contracts that include a participating feature.  

The sensitivity analyses performed on the main Cardif Assurance Vie and Cardif Vita general funds 

consisted of measuring the impact of a change in the equity market and a change in risk-free interest 

rates on the revaluation of financial assets recognised as reserves and in the profit and loss account. 

With regard to equity risk, these analyses show that an increase and decrease of 10% in the stock 

indexes respectively increases and decreases the revaluation of financial assets by 7%, which is 

recognised in the profit and loss account and in reserves. With respect to interest rate risk, a 50 basis 

point increase and decrease in 10-year risk-free interest rates results in a respective 15% decrease 

and increase in the revaluation of financial assets, which is recognised in the profit and loss account 

and in reserves. 



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2017 

 
 

2017 BNP Paribas Cardif Group 

 

112 

 

8.4 UNDERWRITING RISK 

The underwriting risk mainly concerns the surrender risk for savings activities and credit protection 

insurance for protection activities. 

 Risk of Risk of Risk of Risk of surrendersurrendersurrendersurrender        8.4.18.4.18.4.18.4.1

Savings contracts include a surrender clause allowing policyholders to request reimbursement of all or 

part of their accumulated savings. The insurer is exposed to the risk of surrender volumes being 

higher than the forecasts used for asset and liability management purposes, which may force it, as 

needed, to sell assets at a loss. 

The surrender risk is limited, however, as: 

� policyholder behaviour is monitored on an ongoing basis, in order to regularly align the 

duration of assets with that of the corresponding liabilities and reduce the risk of abrupt, large-

scale asset sales. Changes in assets and liabilities are projected over periods of up to forty 

years, in order to identify mismatches giving rise to a liquidity risk. These analyses are then 

used to determine the choice of maturities for new investments and the assets to be sold. 

Short-term (one year) liquidity analyses are also carried out, which include various surrender 

rate increase assumptions to ensure that the Group can withstand stress situations; 

� in addition to the guaranteed return, policyholders are paid dividends that raise the total return 

to a level in line with market benchmarks. These dividends, which are partly discretionary, 

reduce the risk of an increase in surrender rates in periods of rising market interest rates. The 

policyholders’ surplus reserve is the mechanism in France that enables the surplus actually 

paid out to be pooled and spread between generations of policyholders; 

� the return on financial assets is protected mainly through the use of hedging instruments. 

 

Average Average Average Average surrendersurrendersurrendersurrender    rates for BNP Paribas Cardif general fundsrates for BNP Paribas Cardif general fundsrates for BNP Paribas Cardif general fundsrates for BNP Paribas Cardif general funds    

 

 

 

 

 

 

     

Average surrender rates observed 2017 2016

France 6.4% 5.9%

Italy 8.9% 8.9%
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 Minimum coverage of Minimum coverage of Minimum coverage of Minimum coverage of unitunitunitunit----llllinkedinkedinkedinked    contractscontractscontractscontracts    8.4.28.4.28.4.28.4.2

The commitments of the insurer recognised as liabilities are covered by holding assets used as a 

valuation reference. The match between unit-linked liabilities and the related assets is controlled at 

monthly intervals.  

Certain unit-linked contracts include whole life covers providing for the payment of a death benefit at 

least equal to the cumulative premiums invested in the contract, whatever the conditions on the 

financial markets at the time of the insured’s death. The risk on these contracts is both statistical 

(probability of a claim) and financial (market value of the units). 

The capital guarantee is generally subject to certain limits. In France, for example, most contracts limit 

the guarantee to one year (renewable annually) and a maximum of EUR 765,000 per insured. In 

addition, the guarantee is not normally available beyond the insured’s 80th birthday. 

The minimum guaranteed benefit reserve is (re)assessed every quarter and takes into account the 

probability of death, based on a deterministic scenario, and stochastic analyses of changing financial 

market prices. The reserve amounted to EUR 6.5 million as of 31 December 2017 (versus EUR 6.4 

million as of 31 December 2016). 

 ProtectionProtectionProtectionProtection 8.4.38.4.38.4.38.4.3

Risks related to protection mainly stem from the marketing of insurance policies of borrowers, but also 

from protection activities (individual provident insurance, extension of coverage, theft/damage to 

property, life annuity contracts in France). 

Creditor insurance mainly covers death, disability, critical illness, loss of employment and financial loss 

risks for personal loans and mortgage loans. The insurance book comprises a very large number of 

policies representing low risks and low premiums. Margins depend on the size of the insurance book, 

effective pooling of risks and tight control of administrative costs. The term of these contracts is 

usually equal to the term of the underlying loan and the premium is either deducted once upon 

issuance of the policy (single premium) or deducted regularly throughout the term of the policy (regular 

or periodic premiums). 

Other contracts (individual death and disability, extended warranty, theft, accidental damage, and 

annuity policies in France) are either for personal risk (death, accidental death, hospitalisation, critical 

illness, healthcare expenses) or property & casualty risk (accidental damage, breakdown or theft of 

consumer goods or vehicles). The individual sums insured under these contracts are generally low 

whether they are indemnities or lump-sum payment. 

Lastly, principally through joint ventures in France and Italy, motor contracts (material damage, civil 

liability) and comprehensive household contracts are also underwritten. The Group is also developing 

this type of insurance coverage in Latin America. 

 Risk management and monitoringRisk management and monitoringRisk management and monitoringRisk management and monitoring    8.4.48.4.48.4.48.4.4

The governance set up to prevent and control actuarial risks in France and internationally is based on 

the guidelines and tools that describe the principles, rules, methodologies and best practices to be 
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followed by teams of actuaries throughout a policy's life cycle, together with the tasks to be performed 

and reports to be produced. It also states the practices that are proscribed or allowed only under 

certain conditions. 

Risks underwritten must comply with delegation limits set at various local and central levels, estimated 

maximum acceptable losses, estimated Solvency II capital requirements and estimated margins on 

the policies concerned. The experience acquired in managing geographically diversified portfolios is 

used to regularly update risk pricing databases comprising a wide range of criteria such as loan type 

for creditor insurance, the type of guarantee and the insured population. Each contract is priced by 

reference to the profitability and return-on-equity targets set by the Executive Management of the BNP 

Paribas Cardif Group. 

Reinsurance is a complementary element of the underwriting risk management system. Its objective is 

to protect the BNP Paribas Cardif Group against three main risks: 

� the so-called “peak” risk linked to exposure to an individual risk exceeding a certain threshold, 

called “full retention”. In personal insurance, this threshold is currently set at EUR 2 million per 

life. The reinsurance of peak risk may take the form of surplus or excess of loss treaties; 

� the disaster risk associated with exposure to a single low occurrence event, but with a very 

strong financial impact (concentration risk); This risk can be reinsured in the form of a 

catastrophe excess of loss treaty; 

� the risk on new products, linked to insufficient mutualisation, wrong definition of the technical 

basis or to uncertainty over the insured portfolio data. This risk can be reinsured in the form of 

quota share, stop loss or excess of loss treaties, depending on the level of risk identified. 

Risk exposures are monitored periodically by the BNP Paribas Cardif Group’s Executive Committee in 

Commitment Monitoring Committees and Risk Committees, based on a two-prong approach: 

� quarterly monitoring of claims rate at each accounting quarter end; 

� supplemented by monitoring of the insured portfolio characteristics according to a schedule 

based on the type of product (monthly, quarterly and annually). 

Pricing of annuity contracts is based on mortality tables applicable under insurance regulations, 

adjusted in some cases by portfolio specific data which is certified by independent actuaries. Annuity 

risks are low. 

Underwriting risks are covered by various technical reserves: 

� the mathematical reserves in Life policy underwriting; 

� the unearned premiums reserves for non-Life underwriting, generally calculated on an 

accruals basis, possibly supplemented by reserves for current risks; 

� the reserves for increasing risk in certain cases (long-term policies with constant periodic 

premiums and increasing risk); 

� the outstanding claims reserves, determined by reference to reported claims; 

� the IBNR (claims incurred but not reported) reserves, determined on the basis of either 

observed settlements or the expected number of claims and the average cost per claim; 

� the reserves for claims management, generally calculated pro rata to the claims reserves. 

In addition, sensitivity analyses are regularly carried out, and the main scenarios tested cover 

significant variation in sales, loss experience and margin rates. 
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8.5 STRUCTURED ENTITIES  

Consolidated structured entitiesConsolidated structured entitiesConsolidated structured entitiesConsolidated structured entities    

Consolidated structured entities correspond to all funds dedicated to the insurance business. 

Fund shares are designed for the needs of the BNP Paribas Cardif Group, which is the sole investor. 

Unconsolidated structured entities Unconsolidated structured entities Unconsolidated structured entities Unconsolidated structured entities     

As part of the asset allocation strategy corresponding to investments related to the premiums for unit-

linked contracts or for the general fund, BNP Paribas Cardif subscribes to units of structured entities.  

These short- or medium-term investments are held for their financial performance and meet the risk 

diversification criteria inherent to the business. For all of these investments, the BNP Paribas Cardif 

Group does not act as a manager and does not have the option to interfere in the investment 

decisions of the management companies. 

As at 31 December 2017, outstanding assets amounted to EUR 54,140 million compared with EUR 

52,161 million as at 31 December 2016. 
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8.6 OTHER RELATED PARTIES  

Within the meaning of IAS 24 "Related Party Disclosures", parties are related if an entity has direct or 

indirect exclusive control or significant influence over another entity, or both entities are under the 

control or significant influence of a third-party entity or natural person. 

According to this definition, the parties related to the BNP Paribas Cardif Group consist of the 

companies of BNP Paribas Group and the senior managers of the BNP Paribas Cardif Group. Entities 

managing the post-employment benefit plans offered to employees (except for multi-employer and 

multi-industry schemes) are also referred to as related parties. 

 Relationships with BNPRelationships with BNPRelationships with BNPRelationships with BNP    Paribas Group companies Paribas Group companies Paribas Group companies Paribas Group companies     8.6.18.6.18.6.18.6.1

The BNP Paribas Cardif Group's relationships with BNP Paribas Group companies mainly concern the 

marketing and management of its insurance products, investment policy and refinancing policy. 

Marketing and management of insurance productsMarketing and management of insurance productsMarketing and management of insurance productsMarketing and management of insurance products    

In some countries, the BNP Paribas Cardif Group distributes a significant portion of its insurance 

products through the BNP Paribas Group's commercial networks. 

For example, BNP Paribas' Retail Banking in France (FRB) and its international banking networks 

(including BNP Paribas Fortis and BNL BC) are important distribution channels for life insurance and 

provident policies, and BNP Paribas Personal Finance (Cetelem brand) mostly markets borrower 

insurance contracts. 

These commercial networks are remunerated by fees from business introducers whose rate differs 

according to the product marketed and the missions entrusted (acquisition, contract management), 

and in some cases, by a variable commission according to the results of the business underwritten, 

with all terms of remuneration being negotiated so as to apply market conditions to policyholders.  

The The The The BNP Paribas Cardif GroupBNP Paribas Cardif GroupBNP Paribas Cardif GroupBNP Paribas Cardif Group‘s investment policy‘s investment policy‘s investment policy‘s investment policy    

The BNP Paribas Cardif Group may invest the funds paid by policyholders in mutual funds (or similar 

funds) managed by the asset management entities of BNP Paribas Group, in particular BNP Paribas 

Asset Management. 

As representation of the General Fund's commitments, the BNP Paribas Cardif Group also 

underwrites negotiable debt securities issued by BNP Paribas Group. 

As at 31 December 2017, these investments totalled EUR 5,464 million compared to EUR 4,469 

million as at 31 December 2016. 

As part of the management of its General Fund and in compliance with the French Insurance Code, 

which defines the maximum amount of repurchase transactions that a French insurance company may 

carry out with its parent company, the BNP Paribas Cardif Group, in particular Cardif Assurance Vie 

and Cardif Assurance Risques Divers, carries out repurchase agreements with BNP Paribas Group. 
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As at 31 December 2017, the amount of repurchase agreements with BNP Paribas Group amounted 

to EUR 4,588 million compared with EUR 5,349 million as at 31 December 2016.  

Finally, as part of investment hedging strategies (whether designated or not as such under IFRS), the 

BNP Paribas Cardif Group transacts forward financial instruments, mainly swaps and options, for 

which BNP Paribas Group's banking entities, mainly BNP Paribas SA, act as intermediaries to enable 

the BNP Paribas Cardif Group companies to enter the market. 

BNP Paribas Cardif GroupBNP Paribas Cardif GroupBNP Paribas Cardif GroupBNP Paribas Cardif Group’s’s’s’s    refinancingrefinancingrefinancingrefinancing policypolicypolicypolicy    

To ensure its long-term financing, the BNP Paribas Cardif Group contracts subordinated loans or 

issues subordinated securities underwritten in full by the entities of BNP Paribas Group. As at 

31  December 2017, this financing represents a total nominal value of EUR 2,830 million compared to 

EUR 2,931 million as at 31 December 2016. 

Foreign exchange risk hedgingForeign exchange risk hedgingForeign exchange risk hedgingForeign exchange risk hedging    

The foreign exchange risk generated by the BNP Paribas Cardif Group's foreign equity investments in 

its subsidiaries located outside the Euro-zone is hedged by borrowing transactions and forward 

financial instruments, which are carried out at market conditions partially with BNP Paribas Group 

companies. As at 31 December 2017, the amount of borrowings contracted for this purpose amounted 

to EUR 2,339 million compared with EUR 3,071 million as at 31 December 2016. 

Profit and loss impact of relationships with BNP Paribas GroupProfit and loss impact of relationships with BNP Paribas GroupProfit and loss impact of relationships with BNP Paribas GroupProfit and loss impact of relationships with BNP Paribas Group companiescompaniescompaniescompanies    

All of these relationships with BNP Paribas Group companies generated a net expense of EUR 1,387 

million in 2017, compared to EUR 1,146 million in 2016, mainly from marketing fees and financing 

expenses as well as structural expenses invoiced by BNP Paribas Group (IT services and back office 

costs), which were partially offset by net investment income. 

 Relationships between BNPRelationships between BNPRelationships between BNPRelationships between BNP ParibasParibasParibasParibas Cardif Group consolidated companiesCardif Group consolidated companiesCardif Group consolidated companiesCardif Group consolidated companies    8.6.28.6.28.6.28.6.2

Note 3 "Scope of consolidation" presents the list of companies consolidated by the BNP Paribas Cardif 

Group. 

Transactions and outstanding amounts at the end of the period between the fully consolidated 

companies of the BNP Paribas Cardif Group are fully eliminated in the preparation of the consolidated 

financial statements. 

As at 31 December 2017, transactions with companies consolidated under the equity method in the 

BNP Paribas and the BNP Paribas Cardif Groups represent a net profit of EUR 15 million, compared 

with EUR 3 million in 2016. 
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8.7 REMUNERATION OF SENIOR EXECUTIVES  

The total amount of remuneration awarded to the Chairman and all members of the Executive 

Committee amounts to EUR 6,319 thousand for 2017. A long-term compensation plan of EUR 945 

thousand was awarded in 2017. 

8.8 FEES PAID TO THE STATUTORY AUDITORS 

 

 

 

Services other than the certification of financial statements this year mainly include tasks related to 

local regulatory requirements (e.g. Solvency 2) or regulatory compliance diagnosis, and, to a lesser 

extent, due diligence carried out as part of market operations. 


